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Since ancient times, people in Japan cared for, make modifications to and lived in their 
residences for a long time that protect them from the elements. Residences protect those who 
live in them and people protect their residences. Daikyo wishes to be part of passing on such 
a Japanese tradition to the next generation. Our brand message embodies this sentiment.



Management Philosophy

Management 
Philosophy

Raison d’etre

Management approach

Code of conduct

Aims of the Mid-term Management Plan
The Group aims to create new value through real estate solutions, and accumulate 

social assets that will be inherited by the next generation in order to achieve a stock-oriented society.

Brand Message

*  A stock-oriented society is a society designed to bring about economic comfort while minimizing environmental impact through development of longer-
lasting housing and other forms of social infrastructure.

Raison d’etre

Leveraging the collective strengths of the Group, 
Daikyo strives to create a “harmonious living 
environment*” through housing products and 
services that satisfy the needs of all age groups and 
lifestyles.
*  “Harmonious living environment” refers to the activities of 

people to enhance peace of mind through improved living.

Management Approach

Toward customers
We endeavor to accommodate needs, and 
accordingly, take customer feedback seriously.

Toward society
We revitalize communities while safeguarding the 
environment.

Toward employees
We will create workplaces of which employees and 
their families can be proud.

Toward business partners
We will share goals and collaborate as a business 
partner.

Toward shareholders
We will increase enterprise value by sustainably 
increasing profitability and growth.

Code of Conduct

From individuals
Each person will faithfully listen carefully to customer 
feedback and have the foresight to pursue work in 
which he or she can deliver unique added value and 
help enhance enterprise value.

From teams
All teams will aspire to personal growth while 
collaborating in open communication beyond 
divisional or Group company boundaries and to do 
their very best.

From good sense
We will always keep the environment in mind as we 
uphold laws and regulations and realize sustainable 
regional development and harmonious living 
environments, thereby fulfilling our social 
responsibilities as a corporate citizen.

About Daikyo Group

Daikyo believes it is important to realize the transition to a stock-oriented society* that emphasizes longer-lasting hous-
ing through appropriate repair and well-planned maintenance from a scrap-and-build society. As such, the Daikyo 
Group aims to become a company that supports customers’ life stages and creates a harmonious living environment to 
be passed on to the next generation through the supply of housing, which forms the basis of a prosperous life, mainte-
nance and management of buildings and brokerage of real estate. The Daikyo Group is also determined to respond to 
new needs and wants of customers in step with changes in the socioeconomic environment as well as to strive to solve 
problems of various local communities.

The Daikyo Group is committed to taking on challenges to help Japan become a nation in which residences also have 
long lives.
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Our Core Values
Implementing Customer Value Management by Taking 
on Challenges and Spurring Innovation
For a half century from the high-growth period to the present, Daikyo has supplied Lions Mansion and responded to changes in consumer lifestyles 
and life stages as well as taken on challenges to implement forward-thinking initiatives. We have also pursued quality performance from the perspec-
tives of the environment, health, safety, communities, caregiving and welfare and met social needs for symbiosis with the environment and 
communities.
 It is no exaggeration to say that the history of Lions Mansion equates to the history of contemporary condominiums in Japan. In fact, Daikyo was 
the first to introduce such specifications and amenities as auto-lock systems, home-delivery lockers and Internet connections in Lions Mansion, 
which had a great impact on the condominium market and many of which have later become an industry standard.

Sincerely listen to customer voices and realize customers’ latent needs and wants

Values

Customer value management

Realize safe, secure, comfortable and sustainable living
We believe that housing, which constitutes the foundation of living, and the richness 
of people’s lives are the driving force to support the prosperity of society as a whole.

Vision

  Changes in social needs
  Changes in consumers’ 

lifestyles and life stages
  Changes in concerns of 

customers and local 
communities

  Bonds among family members
  Safety, security and comfort  

of living
  Continuity of asset value
  Creation of prosperous 

communities
  Symbiosis with the environment 

and local communities

Proposal of new lifestyles

  Quality & value
In addition to basic performance, 
increase the quality performance of 
Lions Mansion from the perspectives 
of the environment, health, safety, 
communities, caregiving and welfare

  Enhancement of customer 
services

Quality performancismChanges in the external 
environment Values to be cherished

Solutions
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2008 Developed Secure Plus, an original service integrating security and life support

50 Years of History with Lions Mansion

Safety

Comfort

Security

Sustainability

Lions Mansion, adorned with a lion statue and an emblem (at the time), was the precursor to brand condominiums. Derived from lions, which are 
known to raise large families, the brand name of the condominium embodies Daikyo’s hope that families living in Lions Mansion will nurture a deep 
love for family members.

1968
Launched first Lions Mansion
Lions Mansion Akasaka (Minato-ku, Tokyo)

1975
Lions Mansion Takaido (Suginami-ku, Tokyo)
Introduced auto-lock system for the first time

1987
Lions Station Plaza Umejima (Adachi-ku, Tokyo)
Installed home-delivery box for the first time

1984
Introduced 24-hour centralized online management system
Developed the LIONS-ONLINE-GUARD SYSTEM (L.O.G. System)

2002
Forest Lake Hibarigaoka (Nishi-Tokyo City, Tokyo)
Certified as an environment-friendly housing project, a first for a private sector-built  condominium 
complex in Japan

Lions Mansion Takaido featured a brick-tile exterior and was equipped with an auto-lock main 
entrance system, a first in Japan.
 Daikyo has made continuous improvements to the auto-lock system since then and in 2006 
developed the Daikyo quad-lock system that integrates the security of main entrance, elevators, 
residence entrance doors and inside residences to protect the safety of residents.

Via the L.O.G. system, Daikyo Management (now Daikyo Astage) receives information on an abnor-
mality at a condominium. In case of an emergency, the information is automatically transmitted to 
a security company, enabling damage to be kept to a minimum.

The expansive area of roughly 21 hectares of Forest Lake Hibarigaoka is landscaped with around 
9,000 trees, including an over 100-year-old Japanese zelkova, and adorned with 1 kilometer of 
paths in total.
 Lions Tower Tsukishima was the first ultra-high-rise condominium in Japan to be certified as 
an environment-friendly housing project.

1998
Completed construction of Japan’s 
tallest condominium at the time

Elsa Tower 55 (Kawaguchi City, 
Saitama Prefecture)

Received the Minister of Construction 
(now Minister of Land, Infrastructure, 
Transport and Tourism) award

2006 Defined “Family First” as the promise made by Lions Mansion and created  
  a new symbol mark

2011 Unified the design of the lion statue throughout Japan

In response to a concern from double-income residents, Daikyo co-developed a home-delivery box 
with a manufacturer and commenced sales of condominiums installed with the box for the first 
time in 1987.
 With the popularity of online shopping in recent years, Daikyo co-developed with a manufac-
turer a home-delivery box for each household that integrates a mail box and a home-delivery box 
in response to customer comments that they cannot receive their packages because of a common 
delivery box being filled to capacity.

Lions My Box received the 2016 Good Design Award.  Page 10

Personnel from security 
company/various utility 
companies dispatched

 L.O.G. system

 Security company  Daikyo Astage Condominium

Abnormality 
in residence 

space

Abnormality 
in common 

space

Management 
office

Cooperation

L.O.G. system center
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Our Core Values1Group-Wide Seamless Value Chain with the Real Estate 
Management Business as the Core

Core Competence

The Daikyo Group aims to create new value 
through real estate solutions in order to achieve 
a stock-oriented society*.

[Real Estate Brokerage]
Real estate brokerage and leasing management; renovations; 
interior remodeling; inbound business; 
and real estate consulting

[Real Estate Management]
Condominium management; resident services; 
building and degradation diagnostics; condominium repair and maintenance; 
property management; building utilities; and energy conservation consulting

Daikyo Astage Incorporated
Anabuki Community Inc.
ORIX Facilities Corporation
Ryukyu Facilities Corporation
Daikyo Anabuki Construction Inc.
Shuken Incorporated

[Real Estate Development and Sales]
Sales of new condominiums and detached houses; 
corporate real estate (CRE) strategic support; redevelopment; 
condominium reconstruction; and housing for the elderly

* A society designed to bring about economic comfort while minimizing environmental impact 
through the development of longer lasting housing and other forms of social infrastructure.
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Daikyo Incorporated
Anabuki Construction Inc.
Anabuki Life Support Inc.
Daikyo Australia Pty Ltd.

Daikyo Anabuki Real Estate Incorporated
Daikyo Reform . Design Incorporated
Taiwan Daikyo Incorporated
Daikyo Hongkong Limited

The Daikyo Group manages under commission 9,592 condominiums/534,715 condominium units and 6,454 buildings and facilities throughout 
Japan’s 47 prefectures (as of March 31, 2018).
 In line with changes in the life stages of residents and buildings, a variety of customer needs are born, including repair, lease management, real 
estate brokerage, remodeling and renovation.
 The Daikyo Group strives to stay in touch with customers and maintain daily connections with them mainly through real estate management, which 
makes it possible to quickly identify customer needs and provide the best possible solution.
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1
Real Estate 
Brokerage

Real Estate 
Development 

and Sales

Real Estate 
Management

In addition to managing condominiums, buildings and 
 facilities as well as offering support for management asso-
ciations, we provide janitorial services and facility mainte-
nance. We also strive to raise the asset value of aging 
buildings and facilities by making repair proposals on a 
regular basis.

We develop condominiums in major cities in Japan by 
 taking advantage of the Daikyo Group’s comprehensive 
structure spanning from planning and sales to after-sales 
services. We also supply detached houses and serviced 
housing for the elderly as well as engage in urban 
 redevelopment and reconstruction.

Utilizing a network of directly managed outlets in 32 pre-
fectures in Japan as well as two other countries, we not 
only engage in real estate brokerage and lease manage-
ment but also undertake the renovation business, in which 
we remodel pre-owned condominiums and detached 
houses for resale.

Condominium management company 
ranking based on the number of 
condominium units under management

Acquisition and resale of pre-owned 
homes/Ranking of units sold

Ranking of number of 
condominium units sold

Number of condominiums under 
management 

Number of renovated 
condominiums sold

Number of condominium 
units sold

Number of buildings and 
facilities managed 

Number of directly 
managed outlets

534,715 st1

th4

th7 units2,434

741,468

6,454

Main product brand
(New condominiums)

Main product brand
(Condominium repair and 
 maintenance)

Main product brand
(Renovated condominiums)

(As of March 31, 2018)

(As of March 31, 2018)(FY2017)

(2017)

*  Source:  Mansion Kanri Shimbun

Source: Remodeling Business Journal

*  Tallied by Daikyo Incorporated on a 
consolidated basis based on survey by 
Japan Real Estate Institute

(As of March 31, 2018) FY2016

FY2016

FY2016

FY2015

FY2015

FY2015

FY2017

FY2017

FY2017

Net sales

Net sales

Net salesNumber of Daikyo Group condominium units supplied 
by geographic area

Operating income

Operating income

Operating income

¥ 162.8 billion

¥ 54.9 billion

¥ 122.2 billion

¥ 163.3 billion

¥ 62.2 billion

¥ 104.6 billion

¥ 170.9 billion

¥ 63.5 billion

¥ 108.2 billion

¥ 9.6 billion

¥ 3.2 billion

¥ 8.6 billion

¥ 10.6 billion

¥ 3.4 billion

¥ 8.9 billion

¥ 11.0 billion

¥ 3.6 billion

¥ 8.8 billion

418

2321,784

Tokyo  
metropolitan area

Kinki areaOthers
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2Our Core Values
The Overwhelming Brand Power 
of Lions Mansion
Daikyo has been ranked No. 1 for the number of condominium units supplied for 32 times (survey by Japan Real Estate Institute) and supplied 6,952 
condominiums in major cities throughout Japan (as of December 31, 2017)*1.
   This achievement is manifest in its overwhelming brand recognition, which serves as an advantage when designated as a member of urban 
 redevelopment projects.

Condominium brand recognition*2 (National average)

Nationwide

Brand name

*1:  Including joint business projects as well as projects undertaken by Fuso Lexel Incorporated (consolidated in March 2009)
*2:  Compiled by Daikyo Incorporated in compliance with the Nikkei Brand Survey and Nikkei Corporate Image Survey

Core Competence

78.4

43.0

35.0

28.0

27.9

Recognition (%)

1 Lions Mansion

2 Company A brand

3 Company B brand

4 Surpass

5 Company C brand

 Condominium brand recognition 78.4%

 Condominiums supplied  
 (as of December 2017) 6,952 condominiums

 Redevelopment projects in progress  
 (as of May 2018) 21 projects

Koshinetsu Area
 69.1%
 32 condominiums
 —

Hokuriku Area
 52.9%
 19 condominiums
 1 project

Chugoku Area
 73.4%
 145 condominiums
 1 project

Tokai Area
 80.4%
 697 condominiums
 1 project

Kinki Area
 81.4%
 673 condominiums
 1 projectShikoku Area

 74.0%
 33 condominiums
 —

Kyushu Area
 68.2%
 294 condominiums
 4 projects

Okinawa
 92.3%
 182 condominiums
 1 project
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3Sound Financial Foundation 
 Underpinning Sustainable Growth
Daikyo’s business model centers around real estate management, which is impervious to  economic 
fluctuations and produces stable cash flows. This is the strength that credit rating agencies regard 
highly, with Rating and Investment Information, Inc. (R&I) and Japan Credit Rating Agency, Ltd. 
(JCR) rating Daikyo “A– (stable)” and “A (stable),” respectively, in their long-term rating.

Financial Foundation

Shareholders’ equity ratio  
(as of March 31, 2018)

Rating information (as of March 31, 2018)

Rating and Investment 
Information, Inc. (R&I)

Japan Credit Rating Agency, 
Ltd. (JCR)

65.2%

 (stable)
A

 (stable)
A

2 Hokkaido
 72.2%
 232 condominiums
 5 projects

Tohoku Area
 74.4%
 258 condominiums
 1 project

Northern Kanto Area
 74.9%
 35 condominiums
 2 projects

Southern Kanto Area
 85.2%
 4,352 condominiums
 4 projectsTokai Area

 80.4%
 697 condominiums
 1 project
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Implementing customer value management by 
taking on challenges and spurring innovation

Daikyo Group

    Improve corporate value through long-term growth (ROE, EPS)     Raise brand value

Social Issues

Group-wide seamless value chain with the real 
estate management business as the core

Overwhelming brand power of Lions Mansion

Sound financial foundation underpinning 
sustainable growth

2

3

1

Corporate governance (page 33)

Input

Human capital Social and relationship capital

Employees Number of condominium associations 
under management

Condominiums managed

Females account for 24% 
(1,330 employees)5,621 Over 530,000 householdsApprox. 9,500

<Customers>
 Increasing elderly households

 Aging buildings and facilities

 Increasing vacant homes

<Employees/Business partners>
 Decreasing working-age population

 Respect for human rights and diversity

 Improvements in labor environment

 Raising productivity

<Local communities>
 National resilience

 Move toward compact cities

 Declining regional communities

<Global environment>
 Curbing and responding to climate change

 Effective use of resources

 Disappearing biodiversity

 Increasing natural disasters

Brand recognition/Lions Mansion

78.4%*

Lifetime Relation System

Solutions system to spend a lifetime 

together with people and buildings

Our Value Creation Framework

Brand message

Core competence

Values Business model

Sales of  
new  

condominiums

Lease  
management

Remodeling

Sales of  
renovated  
properties

Redevelopment
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Daikyo Group

    Raise brand value     Accumulate technologies and expertise indispensable to future growth

KPI and Social Values

Corporate governance (page 33)

Operating income

¥ 28.0 billion  
or more

ROE

9%  
or more

Investment
Approx.  

¥ 150.0 billion

Shareholders’ equity ratio

50%  
or more

(FY2020)

Primary 
 management goals

Capital investmentShareholders’ equity ratio Research and development costs

¥ 221 million ¥ 765 million65.2%

Business operation

47 prefectures in Japan 3 countries overseas

(As of and for the year ended March 31, 2018)

Lifetime Relation System

Solutions system to spend a lifetime 

together with people and buildings

Our Value Creation Framework

Financial capital Intellectual capital Manufacturing capital

Brand message

Sales of  
new  

condominiums

Building and  
facility  

management

Condominium 
management

Real estate 
brokerage

<Customers>
 Providing housing that matches diverse lifestyles

 Realizing safe, secure, comfortable and sustainable living

 Accumulating high-quality building stock

  Establishing an environment to make transactions of 
existing housing with peace of mind

<Employees/Business partners>
  Developing the next generation of human resources 
responsive to changes in external environment

  Raising the diversity of human resources and realizing a 
variety of working styles

  More efficient work procedures by utilizing artificial 
intelligence (AI), the Internet of Things (IoT) and other 
cutting-edge  technologies

  Establishing a workplace environment that enables 
everyone to work safely and healthily

<Local communities>
 Creating resilient, convenient and compact cities

  Creating prosperous communities that enable interaction 
among residents across generations

 Realizing a healthy and active life for the elderly

<Global environment>
 Expanding the popularity of long-lasting excellent housing

 Promoting energy conservation

* Compiled by Daikyo Incorporated in compliance with the Nikkei Brand Survey and Nikkei Corporate Image Survey

Repairs/ 
Maintenance

Lease  
management

Redevelopment
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Our Value Creation StudiesOur Value Creation Studies

1

2

The Daikyo Group Contributes to Realizing a Sustainable Society by Creating Value for 
Customers, Local Communities and the Global Environment

Creating Value for Customers

Providing Housing That Accommodates Diverse Lifestyles
Achieving over 100% coverage of a home-delivery box aimed at zero redeliveries
With the widespread popularity of online shopping, the number of package deliveries is growing 
rapidly. Meanwhile, an increase in double-income households has resulted in more time when 
residents are away from home. As a result, redelivery of packages has become a social issue. In 
addition, many residents have complained that they are unable to receive packages because 
their common delivery box is filled to capacity.
 The Daikyo Group has been facilitating the installation of Lions My Box, a home-delivery box 
for each household that combines a mailbox with a home-delivery box, for new condominiums. 
With Lions My Box, packages from different couriers and multiple packages can be stored in one 
box. It does not require much space and enables residents to receive packages efficiently.

Realizing a Safe, Secure, Comfortable and Sustainable Life
Providing safe and comfortable living in condominiums with face recognition authentication security service
Anabuki Construction Inc., a member of the Daikyo Group, and Fulltime System Co., Ltd. have jointly developed “Surpass escort service + ‘F-ace’,” a 
technology that utilizes face recognition authentication for an auto lock in condominiums’ common areas and a home-delivery box. The technology 
enables residents to unlock security on doors and 
elevators or take out packages from a home-
delivery box using face recognition authentication 
without IC and other keys. As a result, it eliminates 
the risk of someone losing or forgetting their keys 
or unauthorized access by an intruder pretending 
to be a resident. The technology offers other func-
tions including sending an automated email to 
parents informing them that their children have 
arrived home.

Convenient facilities to support daily life

Boxes for each household

Shared boxes

Rental cart

Temporary 
storage of 

online grocery 
delivery

Dry cleaning 
request

Trash can Return box for food 
delivery containers

A trash can to dispose of 
unnecessary flyers and direct mail

A storage box to return 
containers for food delivery

Rental cart

Overall structure of Lions My Box

A cart that comes in handy 
when carrying large packages

Registered 
mail receipt 

service

Four-
dimensional 

box

Package 
shipping

Rental car 
delivery

Trash can

100% installation rate

Residence-specific personal boxes 
and common boxes for large packages

Saving space; combining and 
simplifying operation

For a condominium with 
50 residences, installing

Receive packages 
any time

Receive mails and packages 
at one time

Multiple packages in one box Convenient access to both 
mailbox and home-delivery box

50 
personal 

boxes 

About 
20 

common 
boxes 

Personal boxesPersonal boxes

New packages can be stored 
even if packages are already inside

Japan 
Post
Sagawa 
Express
Yamato 
Transport Saving space by combining a home-delivery 

box with a mailbox; improving usability

Mailbox

Home-delivery box Mailbox + home-delivery box

Multiple packages storable in one box

Entrance Elevator landingWindbreak room

•  Unlocking a door 
using face 
recognition 
authentication

• Walk-through entry

•  Unlocking elevator security 
using face recognition 
authentication

•  Entering the elevator by 
pushing a button

Conceptual image
My child is home. I 
must go back quickly 
and prepare dinner.
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Our Value Creation StudiesOur Value Creation Studies
The Daikyo Group Contributes to Realizing a Sustainable Society by Creating Value for 
Customers, Local Communities and the Global Environment

3

First RenoTerrace house (built 20 years ago, Kawasaki City, Kanagawa Prefecture)

Accumulating the Stock of High-Quality 
 Buildings
Expanding renovation business
Out of approximately 60 million existing detached houses in 
Japan, over 8 million are said to be vacant. The government 
has facilitated a shift to a stock-oriented society through the 
distribution and use of existing houses and vacant homes.
 With the aim of revitalizing and recycling existing properties, 
the Daikyo Group has promoted the following brands: Reno , 
focusing on renovation of condominium units; GRANDINNO, 
providing renovation of the entire condominium; and 
RenoTerrace, centered on the renovation of detached houses.

Developing a System Enabling Residents to Stay at Home without Going to Shelters in the Wake of Disasters
We have developed the Sona-L-system, a new disaster-prevention system that has been introduced to condominiums under our management.
 Condominiums under our management received no serious damage from the Great East Japan Earthquake. However, recovery of lifelines took a 
long time—about seven days for electricity, about 31 days for water and about 36 days for city gas—forcing many residents to evacuate to shelters.
 The system combines solar power generation with rechargeable batteries and supplies electricity to elevators, feed pumps and other facilities in case 
of a power outage in order to secure lifelines to maintain life after the occurrence of disasters. In addition, the system contributes to saving energy 
during normal times by using electricity generated with solar power for lighting and other facilities in common areas.
 It is also important to prepare for diversifying disasters such as an increase in torrential rain of over 50 mm/h. In response, we have developed the 
Standards for Countermeasures against Flooding, which contain risk standards for flooding damage and construction countermeasures, and have 
taken necessary measures for all Sona-L-system-equipped condominiums. In addition to making efforts to protect hardware such as ensuring the 
quality of buildings so that they can withstand 
major earthquakes, we have enhanced measures 
to increase residents’ awareness of the need for 
disaster prevention.

Conceptual image of system Solar power generation Solar power generation

Rechargeable 
battery

Rechargeable 
battery

During power blackout Power supply
(utility company)

Power sources in common areas
Lighting in elevators and common 
areas (partial)
Secure life traffic lines

The respective timer control 
programs enable power to be fed to 
the facilities described on the left 
for three days.Feed pumps to supply water to 

residences
Secure water for domestic use

Power sources in common areas (partial) 
and Wi-Fi
Secure methods to access information

Lighting in 
common areas

When solar panels are not generating electricity

At the time of disaster During normal timesSecuring electricity, water and information 
for more than one week

Reducing maintenance 
costs in common areas

Lions’ new disaster prevention system incorporating the concept of maintaining life 
after the occurrence of disasters and responding to diversifying disasters
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Our Value Creation Studies

Creating Value for Local Communities

1

2

South 2 West 3 Southwest District 
(Sapporo City, Hokkaido)

Takashimaya South District 
(Gifu City, Gifu Prefecture)

Ritsurinkoen  
(Takamatsu City,  

Kagawa Prefecture)

Nakano Minamidai 
(Nakano-ku, Tokyo)

Enabling Senior Citizens to Live Healthy and Active Lives

Creating Prosperous Communities Where Residents of Different 
Generations Can Interact with Each Other

Offering serviced housing for the elderly
Japan has entered the period of an ultra-aging society ahead of the world, and rapid 
aging is taking place especially in urban areas. The government has promoted the 
construction of serviced housing for the elderly that provides safety confirmation and 
life consultation services in convenient city centers so that senior citizens can continue 
to live in a familiar environment.
 Against this backdrop, the Daikyo Group has established Kagayaki-no-Toki 
Ritsurinkoen in Takamatsu City, Kagawa Prefecture, and Kagayaki-no-Toki Nakano 
Minamidai in Nakano-ku, Tokyo. Kagayaki-no-Toki Ritsurinkoen is one of the largest 
complex facility for senior citizens in Kagawa. In addition to 60 units of serviced hous-
ing for the elderly, it provides services meeting the needs of residents and senior citizens 
in the neighborhood through cooperation with medical and other facilities in the com-
munity, including daycare centers, attendant services, clinics and drugstores. These 
serviced housings have nurses and care staff on duty 24/7 and frameworks in place 
to provide dementia care, intensive care and terminal care, so that residents can con-
tinue living in the facilities even if the level of care they need becomes more severe.

Amid the acceleration of an aging society and population decline, efforts have been 
made across Japan to create a society where different generations can live in harmony 
with the goal of creating sustainable and vibrant communities.
 The Daikyo Group has participated in 21 redevelopment projects in Japan mainly in 
mid-size cities in regional areas. By developing high-rise condominiums as well as retail, 
medical, social welfare and other facilities, we aim to create communities where resi-
dents of different generations can interact with each other. Scheduled for completion 
in fiscal 2020, the Takashimaya South District (Gifu City, Gifu Prefecture) project will 
bring in over 700 new residents and attract visitors from outside the city by building a 
high-rise tower comprising retail and public facilities and residences. Scheduled for 
completion in fiscal 2022, the South 2 West 3 Southwest District (Sapporo City, 
Hokkaido) project will develop spaces where a streetcar stop has been added follow-
ing the completion of a loop route. The project is also creating vibrant spaces by 
facilitating the integrated development of above-ground and underground areas.
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Our Value Creation Studies

Creating Value for the Global Environment

1

2

Rendering of  
Surpass Tower Higashi-Shizuoka

Rendering of  
Lions Kuwana Ekimae Granfort

Conceptual Diagram of Passive Design

Promoting Energy Savings
Providing new ventilation solutions for 
 condominiums by learning from traditional 
Japanese houses
While condominiums have high heat resistance and 
air tightness, they have a different set of issues, 
including poor ventilation and condensation, which 
are far from traditional Japanese houses that enable 
people to live in harmony with nature. The Lions 
Passive Design doesn’t rely on electricity or machines 
but instead achieves comfortable ventilation and 
energy savings through environmental control based 
on construction planning such as plant curtains and 
vents. We facilitated development while conducting 
feasibility tests in collaboration with Nihon University 
and with cooperation from residents, and have 
 introduced this solution to about 6,000 residences 
so far.

Expansion of Long-Term, High-Quality Housing
Using high-quality housing for a long time and passing it on to the next generation
There is a growing trend to shift from a scrap-and-build society to a stock-oriented 
society that focuses on creating and using quality goods for a long time through care-
ful maintenance. Long-term, high-quality housing is a standard created by the Japanese 
government to realize a stock-oriented society. To be qualified, nine accreditation 
criteria, including anti-seismic performance, anti-deterioration measures,  variability, 
barrier-free features and energy savings, must be satisfied.
 Lions Kuwana Ekimae Grandfort (Kuwana City, Mie Prefecture) and Surpass Tower 
Higashi-Shizuoka (Shizuoka City, Shizuoka Prefecture) are certified as long-term, high-
quality housing. Seeking habitability that enables residents’ children and grandchildren 
to continue living comfortably, both condominiums not only let residents live there for 
a long time through renovation but also have adopted a seismic isolation structure that 
prevents earthquake vibrations from traveling to higher floors.

We have enhanced the Lions 
Passive Design through development, 
verification and modification 
to resolve these weaknesses.

Characteristics 
of condominiums 
made of reinforced 
concrete

High earthquake resistance

High airtightness

High insulation

Weaknesses 
within residences
• Poor ventilation
• Frequent condensation
• Heat stored in summer

Heat barrier 
effects

Ventilation 
effects

Conceptual Diagram of Passive Design

Hooks to hang plant curtains 
to prevent room temperature 
from rising by softening 
the sun’s rays and with 
transpiration effects

Sash with a stopper 
for natural ventilation, 
allowing ventilation with 
consideration given 
to security

Large air supply opening 
of 150  , more than double 
the size of a general air 
supply opening, bringing air 
into the room

Environmentally friendly glass 
with high heat barrier effects, 
enabling residents to stay 
warm in winter and cool 
in summer

Doors with ventilation louvers 
which ventilate even when 
doors are closed

Ventilation entrance door 
with security features
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Strategy

President and Representative Executive Officer

Daikyo intends to achieve sustainable growth by continuing to listen closely 
to its customers as it always has and by implementing customer value 
management that embodies the latent needs and wants of customers.

Becoming a Company That Provides New 
Added Value to Address Customers’ Issues

Top Message
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50 Years with Lions Mansion Condominiums
Daikyo was established in 1964, the time of Japan’s first condominium boom in 1963 and 1964. During this 
period, the Japanese economy and society underwent a breathtaking transformation spurred by the 1964 
Tokyo Olympics. Demand for housing continued to trend upward in tandem with a large population influx into 
major metropolitan areas and a trend toward nuclear families, and people’s lives became more prosperous 
amid Japan’s rapid economic growth. Despite this growing affluence, a survey of housing statistics in 1968 
revealed that 3.6 million of Japan’s 25.32 million total households lived in small, cramped or dilapidated  housing 
and that people’s living environments still lagged behind the country’s economic development.
 Within this environment, in keeping with its founding aspiration of “supplying high-quality and inexpensive 
housing to urban working people,” Daikyo commenced sales of “Lions Mansion Akasaka” (Minato-ku, Tokyo) 
in 1968 and since then has continued to primarily supply family-type condominiums in major cities across 
Japan. Our brand name that starts with the word Lion, a symbol of large families, encapsulates our fervent 
desire to see families nurtured with deep affection. Lions Mansion with its distinctive lion statue and emblem 
(at that time) was a forerunner in brand condominiums. Additionally, on 32 occasions Daikyo has earned the 
distinction of ranking No. 1 in Japan in terms of the number of condominium units supplied annually (according 
to the Real Estate Economic Institute). In this manner, Daikyo has played a trailblazing role in firmly positioning 
condominiums as one main type of residence in cities.
 During the period spanning Japan’s rapid economic growth to the present, Daikyo has addressed the 
evolving lifestyles and life stages of consumers in each successive generation and taken on the challenge of 
pushing ahead with epoch-making initiatives. Moreover, Daikyo has also enhanced quality performance from 
the perspectives of the environment, health, safety, communities, nursing care and welfare in responding to 
the needs of society such as for harmonious coexistence with local communities and the environment. 
Specifications and facilities such as automatic locking systems and parcel delivery lockers that were first 
adopted by Daikyo ahead of its competitors have had a major impact on the condominium market and many 
of these have become industry standards. At the time residents began moving into the first Lions Mansion, 
Daikyo also established a dedicated condominium management company (presently Daikyo Astage 
Incorporated). This was in line with efforts to build systems for protecting residents by introducing 24-hour 
online centralized monitoring systems to ensure its customer and their families could live safe, secure and 
comfortable lives. Daikyo also created various new condominium management “software.” These included 
establishing management by-laws and introducing a maintenance reserve system as well as promoting 
community-building by holding various events, implementing crime- and disaster-prevention drills and publish-
ing information magazines. As exemplified by these initiatives, Daikyo has been the leading force in Japan’s 
condominium market over the course of half a century and has undeniably set the standards for present-day 
condominiums.

Our Strengths
Daikyo has built a three-pillar (real estate development, real estate management, real estate brokerage) value 
chain for perpetually maintaining the asset value of Lions Mansion and has achieved growth backed by the 
overwhelming support of its customers. With the acquisition of ORIX Facilities Corporation, a building manage-
ment company, and Anabuki Construction Inc., which supplies Surpass Mansion condominiums mainly in 
core regional cities, Daikyo has evolved into a corporate group capable of supporting the lifestyles of our 
customers through diverse businesses encompassing sales of new condominiums and detached houses, 
building maintenance management, real estate brokerage, lease management, remodeling, redevelopment 
and rebuilding. Today, Daikyo aims for compatibility between sustainable growth of the Group and sustainable 
development of society by leveraging its strengths that include “a Group-wide integrated seamless value chain 
with the real estate management business at the core,” “overwhelming brand strength of Lions Mansion” and 
“sound financial foundation underpinning sustainable growth.”

P.04  05
P.06
P.07

Group-Wide Seamless Value Chain with  
the Real Estate Management Business as the Core

The Overwhelming Brand Power of Lions Mansion

Sound Financial Foundation Underpinning Sustainable Growth
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The Society We Envision
The social and economic environments surrounding the real estate industry is changing significantly as we 
face the prospect of a dwindling population, lower birthrate and aging society. In addition, not only are con-
sumer values diversifying, but existing real estate stock is aging and abandoned houses are increasing, while 
ties in local communities are weakening and housing environments are worsening. In this environment, the 
Daikyo Group launched its five-year Medium-term Management Plan, “Create NEW VALUE 2021 — New Value 
Creation through Real Estate Solutions,” which began in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2017 (fiscal 2016). 
Under this plan, we aim for operating income of ¥28.0 billion or more and ROE of 9% or more. At the same 
time, we intend to revitalize and extend the life of existing buildings through such real estate solutions as 
repairs and maintenance work, renovation, remodeling, leases, urban redevelopment and rebuilding, with the 
overriding aim of realizing a stock-oriented society that creates economic comfort and minimizes environmental 
impacts.

Status of the Medium-term Management Plan
Regarding the progress status of the priority themes of our growth strategy, first of all, sales from large-scale 
condominium repairs and maintenance work in fiscal 2017 amounted to ¥38.5 billion, up ¥0.8 billion year on 
year. For the next fiscal year, we forecast net sales of ¥42.0 billion, an increase of ¥3.5 billion, as we continue 
to expand orders and strengthen our construction management and construction cooperation structures. 
Next, sales of renovated dwellings amounted to 1,471 units, up six units from the previous fiscal year. This 
business is witnessing rising procurement and sales prices amid soaring prices of newly built condominiums. 
Coupled with the entry of large companies, competition is intensifying in the Tokyo metropolitan area. In 
response, we will expand business opportunities and improve profitability by strengthening our procurement 
structure that utilizes the networks of brokerage companies and by introducing high-added-value products 
(compact condominiums and detached homes). By taking these steps, we forecast sales of renovated dwell-
ings of 1,700 units, an increase of 229 units from the fiscal year under review. Meanwhile, in the Redevelopment 
Business, Daikyo decided to participate in six new projects during the fiscal year. These include the project 
that aims to establish the Japanese version of continuing care retirement communities (CCRC). Finally, regard-
ing our research and development and strategic investment plans, we will promote Group-wide initiatives utilizing 
such cutting-edge technologies as artificial intelligence (AI) and the Internet of Things (IoT) to compensate for 
the labor shortage and improve service quality. Even though we have made no large-scale investments, we 
have set up a dedicated department to continuously obtain and examine investment information such as for 
M&A with a focus on synergies with existing businesses.

Raising Medium- and Long-term Corporate Value
Daikyo will work proactively to raise our social value, with these efforts focused on the environment (E), social 
(S) and governance (G), to achieve sustainable growth and to ensure we become a company even more 
indispensable to society. In 2017, we determined materiality from both social and business perspectives after 
giving consideration not only to social issues related to its business domains but also to the Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDGs) adopted by the United Nations and the Paris Agreement. Furthermore, via dialogue 
with outside experts, we have categorized the social issues we must tackle into the three ESG themes of 
“Creating ties between people and buildings,” “Development that is gentle on the environment” and “Becoming 
a trustworthy company for all stakeholders.”
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Creating Ties between People and Buildings
For the theme “Creating ties between people and buildings,” Daikyo has been working to solve problems 
arising from a low birthrate and the aging of society, including increases in dilapidated buildings and vacant 
homes, a decline in the vitality of regional core cities and an increase in single-elderly households. We have 
already racked up achievements in respective fields of repair and maintenance work for extending the life of 
existing buildings; rehabilitation and effective use of vacant homes; and urban redevelopment for revitalizing 
and strengthening the disaster resilience of communities. Despite these achievements, the ultimate purpose 
of this theme is to cultivate creating shared value (CSV) businesses that generate profits by solving problems 
throughout the world. In working toward this objective, Daikyo is fortunately surrounded by plentiful sources 
of clues for solving these problems. For example, the input and requests we receive from customers provide 
us with valuable business ideas. Based on this customer feedback, we will address such issues as what value 
we can provide to our customers as a Group and how we can raise a sense of unity across the entire Group.

Development That is Gentle on the Environment
The progression of global warming is having an adverse impact on various areas such as food and health. In 
recent years, it has been causing enormous damage to the lives of citizens in the form of major typhoons and 
torrential rains. Under these circumstances, Japan has publicly pledged to reduce greenhouse gas emissions 
in 2030 by 26% compared with the 2013 level, with expectations of a massive 39.3% reduction of emissions 
in the household sector. Given this outlook, for the theme “Development that is gentle on the environment,” 
Daikyo is working together with customers and business partners in all areas, from manufacturing to locations 
of final consumption, to reduce CO2 emissions, effectively utilize resources and preserve biodiversity across 
the entire supply chain.

Becoming a Trustworthy Company for All Stakeholders
Regarding “Becoming a trustworthy company for all stakeholders,” Daikyo is committed to making efforts to 
strengthen its governance, raise a sense of unity and connectivity as a Group, reform working styles and 
cultivate human resources. Companies must possess the responsiveness to changes in society to ensure 
they achieve sustainable growth. I believe this trait manifests itself when we raise the diversity of our human 
resources and when human resources who will lead the way in the next generation begin to successively 
distinguish themselves. Therefore, Daikyo’s reform of working styles aims not only at alleviating long working 
hours but also strives for the development of next-generation human resources capable of responding to 
changes in the external environment. In a different area, condominium management and construction worksites 
are facing chronic shortages of workers. To address this situation, we are enhancing the efficiency of our 
operations by adopting cutting-edge technologies such as AI and IoT. In addition, in view of the increase in 
elderly and unskilled workers, we will further strengthen occupational safety and health and establish workplace 
environments in which all people can work safely and healthily.

As described above, Daikyo will proactively fulfill our responsibilities in addressing the environmental and social 
impacts of our businesses. At the same time, we will carry out distinctive businesses in fields where we can 
leverage our strengths as we work to solve problems facing customers and local communities. Through the 
implementation of its Medium-term Management Plan, “Create NEW VALUE 2021 — New Value Creation 
through Real Estate Solutions,” Daikyo is building a foundation for its corporate brand to attain its financial 
and non-financial targets and ensure the ongoing sustainable growth of the Daikyo Group from fiscal 2020 
and beyond.

In closing, by clarifying the Group-wide policies and specific targets for ESG-related issues, we seek to promote 
dialogue and deepen the bonds of trust with our wide-ranging stakeholders. I am hoping that this report serves 
as an opportunity for such dialogue.
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<3 Basic Policies of the Medium-term Management Plan (from Fiscal 2016 to Fiscal 2020>

Basic Policy 1: Management that combines “consistency” with “sustainable growth”

Basic Policy 2: Growth strategy

Basic Policy 3: Investment plan/Shareholder return

Repair and maintenance work sales of ¥50 
billion Market share of 10%

2,500 units of detached houses and 
 renovated condominiums

Aggregate investment of ¥70 billion during 
the management plan period

Aggregate investment of ¥50 billion during 
the management plan period

Maintaining orders received and sales of 
approx. ¥10 billion in each fiscal year

FY2020 targets

Expansion of 
business 
domain 

Investment plan

Shareholder return

a) Developing demand for repair and 
maintenance work in external markets 

Conducting real estate investment, strategic investment and 
research and development investment from a medium- to 
long-term perspective, which are aimed at making progress 
during the management plan period and thereafter

b) Entering the renovated detached 
house business

Stability, continuity and enhancing sustainable returns

* Total acquisition of treasury stock for FY2017: ¥6.48 billion

a) Investing in rental properties

a) Leveraging ICT

b) Promoting the redevelopment 
business

b) Overseas expansion

Real estate 
management

Real estate brokerage

Real estate 
development and sales

Real estate brokerage 
and real estate 

development and sales

Company-wide

Improving market share and promoting 
activities to obtain orders in external markets

Aggregate investment sum for FY2016 to FY2020: ¥150 billion
Breakdown
Real estate investment: ¥100 billion
Strategic investment/research and development investment: ¥50 billion

Payout ratio
20.1% (FY2015)  36.3% (FY2017)

Drawing on our accumulated expertise in the 
realm of renovated condominiums and 
operational management framework

Investing mainly in corporate housing, rental 
condominiums and serviced housing for the 
elderly

Proactively promoting the use of cutting-edge 
technologies as well as research and 
development

Promoting business throughout Japan 
utilizing our business base with a nationwide 
network and robust financial base 

Promoting investigation and research by 
positioning the management plan period as 
the time to build a foundation

Priority themes of growth strategy

Basic policies

Businesses Basic policies

FY2020 targets

Utilization of 
assets

Promotion of 
research and 
development

1.

2.

3.

Forging ahead to the Next Stage

Create NEW VALUE 2021
—New Value Creation through Real Estate Solutions—

 We will engage in management that combines consistency with sustainable growth while paying attention to the balance of profit among real estate 
management, real estate brokerage and real estate development and sales businesses.

 While managing to maintain the composition of real estate management, which is highly consistent, at 50% of consolidated operating income and 
further raising management stability, we will pursue sustainable growth through not only growth investment but also M&A and strategic investment.
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Basic Policy 1: Management that combines “consistency” with “sustainable growth”

Properly maintaining the balance of profit among each business, we will aim for consolidated operating income of ¥28 billion or more 
in the final year of the medium-term management plan.

FY2015 FY2016 FY2017 FY2020  
(plan)

FY2018  
(plan)

18.3

7.7% 9% or more8.2%7.8%

20.5
22.0

28.0 or more

20.1

ROE

50%*

Real estate 
development and 
sales & Real estate 
brokerage:

Real estate 
management: 

50%*

FY2015 FY2016 FY2017 FY2020 (projection)FY2018 (projection)

Assets

Net assets

Liabilities

65.2% 50% or more64.0%60.5%Shareholders’  
equity ratio

274.5 277.8 276.6

108.5 100.0 96.3

166.0 177.8 180.3

(¥ Billion)

(¥ Billion)

Real estate development and sales

Real estate brokerage

Real estate management

Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Operating Income

* Total of operating income by business; ratio before eliminations

   Operating income:  ¥28 billion or more

   ROE:  9% or more

   Shareholders’ equity ratio:  50% or more

Key management goals
Growth potential
Capital efficiency
(Reference) Financial soundness

(FY2020)
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*1: Basic Plan on Housing (Cabinet approval on March 18, 2016)
*2: Estimates by Daikyo Incorporated

* Source: Cabinet approval on March 18, 2016

* Sale of the first renovated detached house commenced in July 2017.

2003

2008

2008

2012

2021

2020

2013

2015

2,120

6,000

2,500

5,745

3,000*1

4,450

0

4,500*2

FY2012 FY2020 (plan)FY2015

595

1,236

2,500

Improving the market share for large-scale repairs and maintenance work and expanding into external markets

Entering the renovated detached house business by drawing on our accumulated expertise in the realm of renovated condominiums

Continuing to supply a certain volume of new condominiums by leveraging marketing capabilities and our capacity as a general 
contractor, in addition to strengthening the redevelopment business

6,230

2015 2020 2025 2030

*1:  From the Ministry of Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism’s national condominium 
stock figures

*2:  Estimates by Daikyo Incorporated

6,770

7,260
7,670

32%

40%

50%

24%

FY2015 FY2020 (plan)

422.0

7.4%
10%

Basic Policy 2: Growth strategy

Real estate  development and sales

Real estate brokerage

Real estate  management

1.  Business domain 
expansion

2. Utilization of assets

Developing demand for repair and maintenance work 
in external markets

Entering the renovated detached house business

Stable supply of new condominiums by promoting 
the redevelopment business

Commencing full-fledged expansion into external markets
Repairs and maintenance work sales of ¥50 billion and market share of 10% in FY2020

Together with industry-leading sales in the number of renovated condominiums, 
increasing sales of renovated dwellings to 2,500 units by FY2020

Number of condominium units managed (thousand units)*1

Ratio of condominium stock more than 30 years old (%)*2

Detached house vacancies (thousand units)

Nationwide land area of densely populated residential districts that pose  extreme 
danger (ha)

Large-scale repairs and maintenance work market (¥ billion)
* Estimates by Daikyo Incorporated

Sales of renovated dwellings (units)

Sales of new condominium units (units)

Daikyo’s sales Non-Daikyo sales Daikyo’s  
market share

Almost 
 two-fold

Keys to achievement

Keys to achievement

Keys to achievement

Strong operational 
management framework

Purchasing structure via 
nationwide network

Number of condominiums 
units sold and high brand 

recognition

Strong price 
competitiveness

Unique quality assurance 
system

Business base for a 
nationwide network

Strong sales capabilities

Operational management 
framework developed 
through sales of new 

detached houses

Robust financial base

Ongoing orders received and sales of ¥10 billion each fiscal year from FY2020 and  
  onward by strengthening business activities nationwide
Sales of new condominium units planned at approx. 3,000 units for FY2020

Approx. 20% 
increase

Aiming for zero but progress 
behind schedule

    Detached houses
    Condominiums

FY2016FY2015 FY2017 FY2020 
(plan)

2,565
2,980

2,340
2,700

FY2018 
(plan)

Approx. 3,000

[Keywords]
Increase in repairs and maintenance work due to progressively aging 
condominiums

[Keywords]
Increase in detached house vacancies; reduction in detached house vacancies 
due to national policies; growing demand for home renovation

[Keywords]
Resolving densely populated residential districts of major urban areas; more 
prevalent compact city designs in regional cities

Approx. 500.0

1.  Expansion of 
business domain
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Basic Policy 3: Investment plan/Shareholder return

New 
investments

Shareholder 
return

In addition to real estate investment as growth investment, making new investments such as strengthening 
existing businesses and making strategic investment for expanding into peripheral business domains 
during the management plan period and thereafter

Enhancing sustainable returns newly added to our basic shareholder return policies of stability and 
continuity; strengthening shareholder return through acquisition of treasury stock

Risk Monitoring System

 Risks are weighted according to the attributes of each piece of real estate 
and the period of the project. The maximum potential damage to capital is 
calculated, and this amount is earmarked as the allowance for risk (refer 
to diagram on the right).
 Businesses from now will limit risk to within the scope of surplus capital.

¥ 100 billion

 Existing businesses for real estate development (new 
condominiums, detached houses, etc.)

 Existing businesses for real estate brokerage (renovation)
 Growth strategy (rental properties)

Real estate investment

M&A and research and development investment

¥ 50 billion

Surplus 
capital

Core 
capital

Equity
Allowance 

for risk

CF from  
financing activities

Shareholder return

Research and 
development 
investment

CF from  
operating activities

Real estate 
investment

* CF from  
operating activities; 

increase in inventories

Aggregate year-end plan
(FY2016–FY2020)

Income, 
purchasing

Expenses, 
investment & return

Shareholder return

CF from  
financing activities

CF from  
investing activities

CF from  
operating activities

Aggregate year-end performance
(FY2011–FY2015)

Income, 
purchasing

Expenses, 
investment & return

CF from  
operating activitie

* Decrease in 
inventories

FY2016–FY2020
 Growth investment of ¥150 billion
 Transition to ownership management via investment in rental properties
 Strategic investment and research and development investment of ¥50 billion

* Aggregate investment amount

<Diagram>

Shareholder return* and payout ratio

Total acquisition of treasury stock (¥ Million)
Total dividends paid (¥ Million)
Payout ratio (%)

* Total return on common stock

FY2011 FY2014 FY2019 (plan)FY2012 FY2015FY2013 FY2018 (plan)FY2016

5.3%

1,104 1,325

6.6%

2,520 2,520

6,480

4,860

20.9%

34.9%

9.0%

20.1%

2,520

36.3%36.1%

Total payout ratio (%)

Enhancing 
 sustainable  returns

5,040

36.1 82.4

During the management plan period

 M&A for condominium management, building and  
facility  management, brokerage, repairs and  
maintenance work, etc.

 Unmanned operations, mechanization, remote 
 management via AI and IoT; research and development 
on longer-lasting buildings and facilities, etc.

FY2011–FY2015
 Transition to management with light assets by promoting double-piller stock and flow business style of 

management
 Strengthening of financial base by decreasing interest-bearing debt
 Proactive implementation of M&A, including Anabuki Construction Inc.
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Sustainability

Creating Ties between People and Buildings

ESG Performance

Identifying Materiality

Materiality

Becoming a Trustworthy Company  
for All Stakeholders

Development That Is Gentle on the Environment

P.24

P.23

P.26

P.28

P.30

1.
2.
3.
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Sustainability

Step 1: Identifying issues

Step 2: Analyzing issues

Step 3: Specifying issues

We identified social issues that are related to the Daikyo Group from among the Management Philosophy, Medium-term 
Management Plan and Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

We analyzed issues from the dual perspectives of the Daikyo Group’s medium- to long-term business operations and 
stakeholders. Then we conducted an examination and deliberation with top management and experts.

After specifying materiality from among issues analyzed in step 2, we categorized them into the following three themes.

Daikyo Group’s 
Management Philosophy

Vision laid out  
in Medium-term 

Management Plan
SDGs

Identifying Materiality
The Daikyo Group has identified materiality to be tackled based on the following process and decided on three social issues that need 

to be resolved.

Social issues related to the Daikyo Group

Creating Ties between People and Buildings

Becoming a Trustworthy Company for All Stakeholders

Development That Is Gentle on the Environment

3.

2.

1.
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ESG Performance

Item

Energy consumption
(kL per year)

Power consumption

(vs FY2009)

CO2 emissions
(t-CO2 per year)

Eco-friendly purchasing rate of office supplies (%)

Unit of output
(kL/km2 per year)

Water consumption
(km3 per year)

Unit of output
(t-CO2/km2 per year)

Total floor space
(km2)

FY2015 FY2016

Item FY2015 FY2016 FY2017

Item FY2015 FY2016 FY2017

FY2017

Daikyo Group Head Offices

Daikyo Head Office Building

828

45% reduction

33

5,234

1,748

83.7

70

25

877

35

3,764

1,817

86.8

72

25

873

32

3,702

1,661

87.0

61

27

*1: The amounts for energy consumption and CO2 emissions of the Daikyo Group Head Office are the total of energy consumed and CO2 emitted by the head offices of the following companies: 
Daikyo Incorporated, Daikyo Astage Incorporated, Anabuki Community Inc., Orix Facilities Corporation, Daikyo Anabuki Construction Inc., Daikyo Anabuki Real Estate Incorporated, Daikyo 
 Reform . Design Incorporated and Anabuki Construction Inc.

*2: Energy consumption is calculated based on the purchased amounts of energy but excludes those of Daikyo Incorporated and Anabuki Construction Inc.
*3: CO2 emission factors are the emissions factor after adjusting the amount provided by respective power companies.

Environmental Data

In 2013, we switched office lighting to LEDs, upgraded air conditioning from 
water-cooled type to air-cooled type, introduced heat shield window films 
and made other renewal work on facilities and equipment of the head office 
building. As a result, we reduced the power consumption of the head office 
building by 45% compared with FY2009.
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Item

Item

Item

Ratio of female managers  
(%)

Number of meetings of the Board of Directors held

Number of directors  
(persons)

Childcare leave acquisition rate  
(%)

Ratio of employees with disabilities  
(%)

Attendance rate of meetings of the Board of Directors  
(%)

Number of outside directors  
(persons)

Number of independent outside directors   
(persons)

Acquisition rate of annual paid leave  
(%)

Female

Male

FY2015

FY2015

FY2015

FY2016

FY2016

FY2016

FY2017

FY2017

FY2017

4.6

8

7

3

1.88

96

3

100

5.6

40.2

5.8

11

7

3

1.95

100

3

100

0.0

40.9

5.7

13

5

3

2.06

100

3

100

26.3

50.9

Social Data

Governance Data

* Information on the number of directors is as of the date of submission of the securities report for each fiscal year.
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Creating Ties between People and Buildings

   Building Up a Stock of High-Quality Buildings

Through lifetime relationships with customers, the Daikyo Group strives to “create ties between people and buildings” by 

 building up its stock of high-quality buildings, providing products and services that solve social issues and vitalizing local 

 communities.

GRANDINNO Komagome

GRANDINNO Komagome (foyer) GRANDINNO Komagome (kitchen)
L’s KITCHEN, originally created for newly built 
Lions Mansion, was employed.

1

   Providing Products and Services That Solve Social Issues

Start of Intermediary Services with Free-of-Charge Inspections*
Daikyo Anabuki Real Estate started “Sumairu Check” intermediary services with free-of-charge inspections in April 
2018. Daikyo Reform . Design Incorporated carries out inspection operations.
 By conducting inspections through collaboration among Group companies and providing information on the 
condition of existing buildings, we will promote the distribution of second-hand condominiums and strive to realize 
a stock-oriented society.

Conceptual image of inspection

Materiality

Debut of GRANDINNO Brand of Entirely Renovated Condominiums in the 23 Wards of Tokyo
To build up its stock of high-quality buildings and revive buildings, Daikyo Anabuki Real Estate Incorporated supplies the GRANDINNO brand of entirely 
renovated condominiums, which have undergone large-scale repairs and renovation on entire buildings, including common areas and  residential spaces 
of condominiums and corporate apartments, to increase their value.
 In November 2017, the company introduced GRANDINNO Komagome, which is the fourth GRANDINNO condominium in Japan and the first in the 
23 wards of Tokyo.

*  Inspection: Building condition survey. Surveys are done by architects who have completed training stipulated by the Ministry of 
Land, Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism to identify the condition of degradation and deficiencies, including cracks and water 
leakage occurring at the building foundation, major structural parts such as exterior walls as well as areas that prevent the 
permeation of rainwater.
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   Vitalizing Local Communities

Participation in the Project to Establish the Japanese Version of Continuing Care Retirement 
 Communities (CCRC) on Nakadori in Akita City
In February 2018, we decided to participate in the project to establish the Japanese CCRC on Nakadori 
in Akita City. Daikyo plans to obtain floors for residential use in the complex building to be constructed 
for this project and sell condominiums (construction scheduled in 2020).
 Based on the policies laid out by Akita Prefecture and Akita City, this project aims to promote a vibrant 
and invigorating city center by constructing a building fitting as a station-front landmark complete with 
various commercial facilities. In addition to facilitating smart wellness and comprehensive community 
care through cooperation with surrounding medical institutions and nursing homes, the project will strive 
not only to provide high-quality condominiums equipped with advanced housing facilities and crime- and 
disaster-prevention measures but also to create a safe, convenient and healthy living environment for 
the residents.

* Japanese CCRC
The Japanese government has announced its plan for “communities that allow people to be active throughout their 
lives (Japanese CCRC).” In this scheme, from the standpoint of revitalizing local communities, the government aims 
to create communities that enable middle-aged and senior citizens to relocate either to the country or downtown as 
they wish, interact with residents of many generations of the community, spend a healthy and active life and receive 
medical and care services as they require.

Location: Nakadori 2-chome district, Akita City, Akita Prefecture (approx. 5 minutes from Akita Station, west exit)
Site area: Approx. 1,000 m2 (plan)
Scale of building: 17 floors above ground (plan)
Total floor space: Approx. 8,200 m2

Outline of facilities: Condominium units for sale and lease, financial institution, medical institution, nursing home office, community interaction space, etc.

Conceptual image of completed building
* This image is under consideration and subject to change.

The Kyoto Branch of Daikyo Astage and the Keiji Branch of Anabuki Community were appointed as the 
business offices which cooperate with the Kyoto Prefectural Police for fraud prevention, a first in the real 
estate industry.

The Tohoku Branches of Daikyo Astage and Anabuki Community signed the 
agreement for an alliance and cooperation for the prevention of crimes such as 
special fraud with the Miyagi Prefectural Police.

Real Estate Industry’s First Attempt at Alliance/Cooperation to Prevent Special Fraud and Other Crimes
In recent years, issues of special fraud, including scams where criminals have their victims remit money to bank accounts on false pretenses, have been 
becoming increasingly severe as the methods of doing so have diversified.
 Daikyo Astage Inc. and Anabuki Community Inc. believe that efforts are needed to prevent harm to people living in condominiums, especially senior 
citizens. In 2016, a total of about 2,100 superintendents, who work at all the buildings Daikyo Astage manages in Tokyo, and employees of the Daikyo 
head office were appointed as “bank transfer fraud prevention advisors” by the Tokyo Metropolitan Police Department. Since then, we have been work-
ing with prefectural police nationwide. As measures to create safe and comfortable local communities, we are promoting activities that prevent residents 
from falling victim to special fraud, including bank transfer scams. In October 2017, we received a letter of appreciation from a police station for actually 
preventing such a crime.
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   Conservation of Biodiversity

Release of killifish in the premises of the 
condominium

Lions Kohoku Newtown Laurel Court

   Environmental Policy

Environmental management 
system

Environmental compliance

Addressing climate change

Utilization of resources

Conservation of biodiversity

Environmental communication

We promote eco-friendly and environmental contribution activities through our businesses by establishing an 
environmental management structure, by setting up and executing environment goals and activity plans and by 
striving to achieve continuous improvement.

For all phases of development, brokerage and management of real estate, we promote efforts to extend the service 
life and the 3Rs (reduce, reuse and recycle) as well as provide products and services that align with a recycling-
oriented society.

We comply with environment-related laws and regulations and aim to establish a sustainable society.

We provide products and services in harmony with communities and nature by giving consideration to biodiversity.

To realize a low-carbon society, we promote energy savings, the utilization of natural energy and measures to reduce 
CO2 emissions during construction. We also strive to provide products and services in harmony with the environment 
throughout their life cycle.

We strive to promote dialogue and cooperation with stakeholders by widely disclosing information on eco-friendly and 
environmental contribution activities and communicating with society.

Development That Is Gentle on the Environment

The Daikyo Group promotes the provision of products and services that consider the environment as well as Group-wide activities to 

reduce CO2 emissions and waste. We also strive to consider and protect the environment through “addressing to climate change,” 

“effective utilization of  resources” and “conservation of biodiversity” as well as commit ourselves to development that is gentle on the 

environment.

“Biotope, “Fureai Forest” Ecosystem Event” Held on the Premises 
of Condominium

Based on its Management Philosophy and Medium-term Management Plan, the Daikyo Group has established the environmental policies and 
promotes eco-conscious manufacturing.

Lions Kohoku Newtown Laurel Court (Yokohama City, Kanagawa 
Prefecture), obtained in 2015 the Business Innovation in Harmony 
with Nature and Community Certificate, which is an accolade given 
to facilities that give consideration to biodiversity. In 2016, an event 
to interact with nature was held for the first time on the premises after 
residents moved in.

Materiality
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   Addressing Climate Change

Matsuoka Campus

Bunkyo CampusTsuruga CampusNinomiya Campus

Yatsushima Campus

 Central machine room
 Review of central heat source system
 University Library of Medicine
 Introduction of air-conditioning using a heat-pump system
 College of Nursing Building
 Introduction of high-efficiency heat source equipment
 Biomedical Imaging Research Center
 Introduction of inverters for  

air-conditioning
 Central machine room, etc.
 Introduction of LED lighting and  

outdoor lamps
  Operational improvement of existing  

facilities

 Introduction of LED outdoor lamps
  Operational improvement of existing facilities

 Cessation of the supply of steam for heaters by introducing air-cooling PAC
 Engineering Building No. 4, etc.
 Introduction of LED lighting and outdoor lamps
 Introduction of water-saving equipment
 Individual air-conditioning tune-up
  Operational improvement of  

existing facilities

  Improvement of the operation of the fan in 
the machine room

 Review of lighting control settings

 Introduction of LED outdoor lamps
 Introduction of water-saving equipment
  Operational improvement of existing facilities

Utilization of facility 
management information 

with ICT

University-wide ESCO Project that involves multiple campuses (the first for a national university)

Rendering of Lions Ashiya Granfort 

Fukui Prefecture

Japan’s First Certification for Nearly Zero Energy House (Nearly ZEH)*
Daikyo’s Lions Ashiya Granfort obtained Japan’s first Building-Housing Energy-efficiency 
Labeling System (BELS) certification as a Nearly ZEH condominium defined by the Ministry 
of Economy, Trade and Industry.
 The condominium boasts higher heat-insulating and energy-saving performance through 
improved building outer-skin functionality while realizing an average of 32% reduction in 
energy savings in all housing units by employing the Low-E double-glazed windows infused 
with argon gas and the high-performance aluminum-plastic composite sash and by install-
ing the next-generation fuel cell (ENE-FARM). In addition, the rooftop solar panels contribute 
to realizing an average energy generation of 48% in all housing units.

*  Condominiums that comply with Nearly ZEH-M guidelines and achieve a reduction of 75% or more in 
primary energy consumption through energy savings and creation

Dramatically Improving Energy Use Efficiency through Management-Integrated ESCO Project
An energy service company (ESCO) is a commercial business that provides comprehensive services related to energy savings at facilities and other 
buildings. It guarantees energy-efficient effects and receives a fee for a portion of the energy cost savings.
 ORIX Facilities Corporation, a Daikyo Group company, has been working with Mitsubishi UFJ Lease & Finance Company Limited and Totech Corporation 
for comprehensive energy savings throughout the five campuses of the University of Fukui and its affiliated school. Together with the university facility 
managers and facility users, the three companies have been promoting the Management-Integrated ESCO Project and rotating the plan-do-check-act 
(PDCA) cycle.
 The project was recognized for its energy-saving effects and awarded the Chairman Prize of The Energy Conservation Center, Japan in the 2017 
Energy Conservation Grand Prize program.

Remote-control 
BEMS
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3
Creation of a robust corporate culture toward a new stage of challenge

Elements to create corporate culture

Workplace Innovation Project
We engage in an activity in which all employees of the Daikyo Group identify the issues and challenges of the workplace under the theme of “How to 
be excited about working” and “How to become a trustworthy company for all stakeholders.” We then compile the required measures to solve these 
issues and present them to management.
 Based on past proposals, we introduced Platinum Week, which allows employees to acquire consecutive days of leave, as well as longer year-end 
and New Year holidays, so that employees can maintain a work-life balance. In addition, we started to completely switch off the lights in buildings, 
utilize an office system where employees are free to change their desks and introduce telecommuting on a trial basis.

System to Support Career Advancement
For employees to think about their vision for their career, we hold “career support interviews.” Specifically, an employee and his/her supervisor review 
the activities of the individual by summarizing past experiences and confirming his/her strengths and challenges. In addition, employees are advised to 
establish short- to long-term career goals for self-enlightenment and changing their approach to their work.
 Furthermore, each department holds a “human resources utilization meeting” to study each employee’s career enhancement. By considering employ-
ees’ requests and aspirations as well as their aptitude evaluated by their supervisor, each employee’s position and work assignment are determined.

Systems to Select Job Type and Tasks
We have a “job type change system” to allow various working styles that fit each employee’s life events and develop careers over the long term. 
Employees can focus on their private time by limiting job tasks or place of work. They can also remove limitations for career advancement. In this way, 
it is possible to make arrangements according to each employee’s personal situation.
 We also have a “job challenge (open recruitment) system” that allows employees to apply for various job opportunities within the Daikyo Group. Since 
employees choose and take on challenges by themselves, their motivation to work is increased, thereby raising the morale of the entire organization.

Becoming a Trustworthy Company for All Stakeholders

Together with promoting appropriate risk management and compliance, we aim to become a vibrant corporate group with diverse 

human resources.

 By utilizing human resources who are capable of responding to the rapid changes in society and possess flexible and wide-ranging 

expertise, we strive to create an organization that allows individuals to exert their full potential and abilities.

 Creation of an organization that grows with employees
 Human resources development that brings out the abilities of 

each individual
 Realization of a flexible working style

 Utilization of diverse values
 For employees to work in a lively manner and maintain their 

health (health management)

   Creation of an Organization That Grows with Employees

To flexibly respond to an ever-changing society and diverse values and provide new value to customers, we believe that it is essential to gather the 
multiple viewpoints of employees and make the most of our power as an organization. Therefore, we aim to capitalize on the individuality of each 
employee while enabling them and the organization to grow together.

Materiality
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   Human Resources Development That Brings Out the Abilities of Each Individual

Hierarchical training Selective training Self-education Support to obtain qualifications

General manager 
or higher

Assistant manager
Assistant manager (advanced)

Chief (advanced)

New graduate follow-up

Manager

Management

Non-
management

Assistant manager (basic)

Chief (basic)

New employee

New manager

External dispatch (com
petition w

ith other styles)

Practical training for each com
pany

M
BA dispatch

Other qualifications

Corres pondence education, e-learning, language school subsidization

Learning Café (lectures and open courses)

External sem
inars

Corporate university

Real estate notary

Building m
anager

Required 
qualifications

First-class architect,  
first-class building operation/ 
electrical w

ork operation and  
m

anagem
ent engineer,  

first-class plum
bing w

ork operation and 
m

anagem
ent engineer, other

Recommended 
qualifications

System to Secure Holidays and Leave and Allow Employees to Maintain a Work-Life Balance
In addition to Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays, we provide a summer holiday period and a year-end/New Year holiday period.
 For employees whose regular holidays are Tuesdays and Wednesdays, to compensate for any shortfall in annual holidays taken for salespeople who 
show customers around condominiums, we set the second Thursday of every month as a holiday to give them three days off, while offering a “flex-
holiday” arrangement that allows employees to freely set the date of their holidays. In addition, to encourage employees to take paid leave, we have 
introduced Platinum Week so that they can schedule consecutive days of leave as well as longer year-end and New Year holidays.
 Also, we allow employees to keep expiring paid holidays so that they can use them later as savings-type paid holidays for specified reasons or as 
medical leave for cancer treatment.

* Actual annual holidays in 2017: 127 days

Introduction of Systems That Allow Employees to Choose the Time and Place to Work
We have introduced systems that allow employees to freely select the time and place of their work depending on respective tasks and lifestyle. They 
include “staggered working hours” and partial “select telecommuting.” More and more employees are using these systems every year.
 In addition, we are promoting measures to expand remote working by utilizing mobile PCs, trialing the introduction of telecommuting and working 
out of the office for certain kinds of work, and establishing satellite offices within the Daikyo Group bases.

Training System That Improves Ability
The Daikyo Group’s human resources development system has four major elements: “hierarchical training” tailored to the level of each employee; 
 “business training” aimed at improving employees’ skills in their respective tasks; “selective training” (including dispatching employees to outside) to 
encourage employee growth through collaboration with other companies; and “self-education support” enabling employees themselves to select what 
to learn. In addition, we help employees to obtain the qualifications required for their tasks at the earliest time possible.

   Realization of a Flexible Working Style

By creating a working system suited to each task and the private lives of employees, we strive to realize a flexible working style that allows  employees 
to demonstrate their abilities to the fullest and increase productivity.

Employees who listen sincerely to the voices of customers and pursue added value are Daikyo’s valuable human capital. Based on this belief, we 
develop human resources that can deliver the best results by striving for their growth on their own as well as by promoting communication across 
Daikyo Group companies.

General manager

Chief

Manager

Employee

Person in 
charge of 
education
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Childcare leave community

The TOMONIN logo certifies a company 
that supports employees who balance 
both work and caregiving.

For compliance and risk management measures, see page 38 in the Corporate Governance section.

Certification as Excellent Enterprise of Health and Productivity Management (White 500)
As a company that practices excellent health management, Daikyo was certified as an Excellent Enterprise of 
Health and Productivity Management (White 500) by Japan’s Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry and Nippon 
Kenko Kaigi.
 We were highly evaluated for our unique initiatives to maintain and promote employees’ health including the BMI 
improvement support program, joint measures with the health insurance association and a stop smoking program.

Daikyo Health Program
As a measure to invest in the health of employees, we promote the Group-wide Daikyo Health Program. During  fiscal 
2017, we conducted various measures to promote health, including cooking lessons for healthy dishes, walking 
events, one-on-one support from personal trainers, seminars on health, Company-wide no-smoking days and the 
total prohibition of cigarettes.

Employees with Varied Attributes
In recent years, our human resources have been progressively diversified. The ratio of female employees and female managers is currently about 
23.6% and 4.3% (68 people), respectively, and these numbers are increasing year by year.
 In 2010, we began hiring non-Japanese employees. So far, we have employed more than 15 people. New values and ideas brought about by the 
diversification of human resources are playing an important role in accelerating diversity.

Childcare Support
To support employees on childcare leave to smoothly return to the workplace, we hold “information exchange 
meetings (childcare leave community)” between employees who are on childcare leave and employees who have 
returned to work and are balancing both work and child care. At the same time, we arrange interviews with super-
visors and a human resources administrator to eliminate anxieties about their work and working style. We also 
encourage male employees to actively participate in parenting by providing childcare leave at the time of childbirth 
and allowing them to convert parts of childcare leave into paid leave.

Utilization of Seniors
Many seniors are working in the areas of condominium, building and construction management.
 For example, 85% of total condominium superintendents (6,178 people) are over 60 years old, of which 4,766 people are aged 65 years old or over. 
Many of them retired after working in various industries and joined the Daikyo Group. We remain committed to proactively employing seniors.

* As of March 31, 2018

Caregiving Support
The number of employees who provide care to family members while working is increasing every year. We are 
promoting measures to avoid the situation where employees have to leave the Daikyo Group to provide care. We 
offer caregiving seminars for employees, individual consultations with specialists and a telephone hotline for 
employees and their families. Through these measures, we provide appropriate advice that matches each situation.

   For Employees to Work in a Lively Manner and Maintain Their Health (Health Management)

   Utilization of Diverse Values

Having healthy employees who can work safely is the basis for everything. The health of an employee is not only the foundation of their life, but 
also an important asset for a company to keep growing. Therefore, we strive to create a workplace that allows each employee of the Daikyo Group 
to work in a lively manner and maintain their health.

We strive to create a workplace that allows each employee to grow, work with satisfaction and demonstrate their abilities by sharing the joy of 
working and by respecting each other regardless of age, gender or nationality. The workplace shall also enable employees to work while handling 
their environment and situation.
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Corporate Governance

   Basic Approach

   Overview of Corporate Governance Structure

   Diagram of Corporate Governance Structure

Organizational structure Company with Nominating Committee

Matters related to directors
   A maximum limit on the number of directors Less than 10
   Term 1 year
   Chairperson of the Board of Directors President
   Number of directors 5
Matters related to outside directors
   Number of outside directors 3
   Number of outside directors appointed as independent officers 3

General Meeting of Shareholders

Execution

Accounting Auditors

Supervisory Functions

Board of Directors

Selection / Dismissal of Directors

Supervision

Reporting

Accounting 
Audit

Nominating Committee   
Nominates director candidates

Compensation Committee   
Determines compensation of directors, etc.

Audit Committee   
Audits execution of duties by executive officers, etc.

3 Outside Directors

2 Internal Directors

3 Outside Directors

3 Outside Directors

3 Outside Directors

2 Internal Directors

We are striving to build an optimal corporate governance with the aims of ensuring soundness of management, appropriate information disclosure and 
transparency, and improving efficiency.
 As a “Company with Nominating Committee, etc.” we have separated the supervision from the business execution and clarified the responsibilities 
of the Board of Directors, etc. in order to reinforce the function of checks and balances for business execution and accelerate the decision-making 
process.
 Moreover, Daikyo is actively strengthening risk management by expanding and enhancing, etc. the compliance framework. Through these measures, 
the Company aims to cooperate appropriately with all stakeholders, and endeavors to ensure fair treatment of shareholders and actively engage in 
constructive dialogue with them.

The contents described in this section are current information as of June 22, 2018, unless otherwise stated.
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   Board of Directors

   Analysis and Assessment Regarding the Effectiveness of the Board of Directors

   Nominating Committee

The Board of Directors makes decisions on executive matters that cannot be delegated to executive officers pursuant to laws and regulations or the 
company’s Articles of Incorporation and important executive matters specified in the Board of Directors Rules. The Board makes decisions on funda-
mental policies regarding business plans, capital policies, and internal control systems and performs functions of periodic checking on these matters. 
With the exception of these matters decided by the Board of Directors, the Board delegates executive decisions to the representative executive officer 
to enhance the efficiency and pace of decision making and executive action.
 The Company takes into consideration knowledge, experience, and capability of directors as well as the balance of number of directors based on 
establishing the system where the active discussions are made at the Board of Directors. Outside directors are elected from those with corporate 
experience or expertise beneficial to the Company such as in accounting and finance, and legal and international relations. Directors who are not 
outside directors are elected from representatives, those responsible for the control department, and those familiar with the main business of the Group, 
etc. In addition, the number of directors is in principle fewer than 10 for substantive discussion. Further, the Nominating Committee comprises a  majority 
of outside directors and determines candidates in elections of directors.

The Board of Directors maintains a free and open-minded atmosphere as well as constructive discussions, and each director expresses and discusses 
effectively with their respective knowledge at the Board of Directors and in each committee, and outside directors maintain a moderately tense relation-
ship with the Executive Department. Due to the above, it can be assessed that the Board of Directors fully fulfills its responsibilities for  supervising 
management.
 In addition, with respect to matters for improvement from last year, we consider that there was a certain level of improvement due to diversification 
and activation of discussions through regular meetings and more intelligent agenda selection as well as early distribution of materials for the Board of 
Directors. However, we confirmed that there is further room for improvement for deepening of discussions. 
 Based on this result of the evaluation for the effectiveness, we will further enhance the effectiveness of the Board of Directors by sorting out the 
particularly important issues as follows and continuing to make efforts in the future, as well.

  Detecting mid- to long-term issues/active discussions to contribute to the improvement of corporate value
  Continuous monitoring of the status of progress for the Medium-term Management Plan
  Active discussions for investigating the cause when the business plan by segment is not achieved
  Implementation of regular meetings consisting of only outside directors

 With respect to these issues, the Chairperson of the Board of Directors and the Secretariat of the Board of Directors will mainly strive to improve.

The Nominating Committee determines the content of proposals relating to the election and dismissal of directors submitted to the General Shareholders 
Meeting. Election and dismissal of directors are conducted pursuant to resolutions of the General Shareholders Meeting. The Nominating Committee 
also deliberates on proposals relating to the appointment and dismissal of executive officers determined by resolution of the Board of Directors. 
 While the Company has not determined the policy to elect directors, it has determined that directors must have excellent character and insight as 
well as extensive knowledge and that inside directors must be less than 65 years old as the age criteria.
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   Composition of Committees

Name Position

Kazuo Kojima

Tsukasa Kimura

Toru Hambayashi

Tomoharu Washio

Yuji Yamamoto

Director

Outside Director

Director

Outside Director

Outside Director

Nominating Committee Compensation CommitteeAudit Committee

Number of Meetings Held

Board of Directors

Nominating Committee

Audit Committee

Compensation Committee

100%13

100%5

100%3

100%4

Attendance Rate

Composition of Committees

Number of Meetings of the Board of Directors and Three Committees Held in Fiscal 2017 and Attendance Rate

        Chairperson           Committee member

   Compensation Committee

The Compensation Committee has authority to set policy with regard to compensation for directors and executive officers stipulated by the Companies 
Act and authority to determine the individual compensation amount of each director and executive officer.

   Audit Committee

The Audit Committee audits the performance of duties by directors and executive officers and prepares audit reports. The Committee also has the 
authority to determine the accounting auditors that will be submitted to the General Shareholders Meeting for approval pursuant to the Companies Act. 
The Committee receives summary reports on the status of business operations from the president and representative executive officer, reports on the 
results of internal audits and on overall internal controls from the executive officer in charge of the Group Audit Department, and accounting audit reports 
from the accounting auditor, and based on these reports, evaluates the performance of duties by the executive officers and the Company’s internal 
control systems.
 Furthermore, Chairperson of the Audit Committee, Mr. Yuji Yamamoto is a financing and accounting expert with many years of practical experience 
as a certified public accountant.
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   Compensation for Directors and Executive Officers

Policy for Determining Compensation for Directors and Executive Officers
In order to achieve mid- to long-term increases in shareholder value, emphasis is placed not only on short-term performance but also on mid- to long-
term results in compensation system for directors and executive officers of the Company, and upon consideration of same, we have the policy that 
compensation effectively functions as an incentive. Further, in the Compensation Committee comprised of outside directors only, while calculating 
compensation amount for officers considering the Company’s positioning, using database for compensation for officers provided by consultants, we 
discuss several times a year, aiming at constructing a compensation system for officers where a more functional and higher effect can be anticipated.

Composition of Compensation
Compensation for directors and executive officers of the Company comprises three parts: fixed compensation,  performance-based compensation, 
and share-based compensation. Compensation for directors who do not concurrently serve as executive officers comprises two parts: fixed  compensation 
and share-based compensation. Performance-based compensation is, from the viewpoint that directors and executive officers as management team 
members are also engaged in management of the entire Group, determined based on the performance of consolidated companies for 50% and the 
total assessment such as job performance for 50%. With respect to performance-based compensation for representative executive officers,  compensation 
tied only to the performance of consolidated companies. Share-based compensation is provided in the Company’s shares dependent on the  accumulated 
points at the time of resignation after a certain number of points are granted based on the positions during the term of office each year.

Classification Number of persons

Directors (internal)

Directors (outside)

Executive officers

Total

9 (0)1 104

187 90 51 32913

27 2— 293

224 91 53 36920

Fixed compensation
(Millions of yen)

Performance-based
compensation
(Millions of yen)

Share price-related
compensation
(Millions of yen)

Total amount
(Millions of yen)

Details of Compensation for Directors and Executive Officers in FY2017

Notes: 1. Compensation for the three executive officers concurrently serving as directors is segmented and stated in compensation for directors (internal) and executive 
officers, respectively. The number of executive officers concurrently serving as directors is stated as both directors (internal) and executive officers.

 2. The share price-related compensation indicates the difference between the amount calculated by multiplying the points held by incumbent directors at the end of 
the fiscal year under review by the average closing price of Daikyo’s common stock on the Tokyo Stock Exchange during the first 30 trading days starting from 
the 45th trading day, preceding the last day of the fiscal year under review, and the amount calculated in the same way on the last day of the previous fiscal year. 
Share price-related compensation for directors retiring during the year under review, is the difference between the amount calculated by multiplying the similarly 
calculated amount at the end of the previous fiscal year by the average closing price of Daikyo’s common stock on the Tokyo Stock Exchange during the first 30 
trading days starting from the 45th trading day preceding the retirement date.

 3. In addition to the above, as final payment for retirement benefits, one executive officer who retired in the previous fiscal year received ¥7 million.
 4. The above amounts do not include salaries for employees who are also executive officers.

36 DAIKYO INCORPORATED REPORT 2018



Diagram of Business Execution Structure

General Meeting of Shareholders

Supervisory Functions

Execution

Board of Directors

Representative Executive Officer

Executive Officers

Business Divisions  
(Including Subsidiaries)

Selection / Dismissal of Directors

Supervision

Execution

Delegation of Executive 
Authority

Cooperation

Nominating Committee  
Nominates director candidates

Executive Committee  
Deliberation / Resolution

Compensation Committee  
Determines compensation of directors, etc.

Divisional President Reporting Meetings  
Monitoring

Audit Committee  
Audits execution of duties by executive officers, etc.

Group Management Liaison Committee  
Information Sharing

Audit Committee Secretariat

Reporting

Reporting

Reporting
Reporting

Internal Reporting Hotline

Checking / Overseeing / 
Monitoring

Auditing

Accounting 
Audit

Group Management Divisions

Divisions Involved in Internal Controls

Accounting Auditors
Group Audit Departm

ent

   Status of Business Execution Structure

Reporting

Important decision-making, monitoring and discussions and information-sharing concerning the business execution are done in the following  organizations.

 Executive Committee: Composed of executive officers, etc. and deliberates and determines business and investment projects beyond a certain 
amount and important matters concerning the business execution of the Group (Meeting frequency, once a week in principle).

 Divisional President Reporting Meetings: Composed of executive officers and those responsible for each business and discuss the strategy of each 
business and direction of the business, change of business environment and status of the achievement of the plan. (Meeting frequency, once a month 
in principle).

 Group Management Liaison Meeting: Composed of executive officers, etc. and shares important information concerning the business execution of 
the entire Group (Meeting frequency, once a month in principle).
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   Effort for compliance

   Internal Audit System

   Risk Management System

   System to ensure the appropriateness of business in corporate group consisting of the applicable company,  
   its parent company and subsidiaries

We have established internal reporting contact points and built a framework for investigating, responding to violations of laws and regulations, internal 
rules and acts against social norms to improve. In addition, Daikyo established the Group Compliance Department to promote compliance and estab-
lish and maintain compliance systems.
 Daikyo conducts e-learning for all Group officers and employees. We inform and educate personnel within the Company and Group companies using 
information sites.

The Group Audit Department, which has responsibility for internal audits, is independent of executive functions. The Department systematically conducts 
business audits and reports on the results of its audits to the Audit Committee. In addition, the Audit Committee maintains a framework of cooperation 
that enables it to direct the Audit Committee Secretariat or the Group Audit Department to conduct audits, investigations and other activities, as neces-
sary. As well as giving suggestions and guidance on areas of improvement to departments undergoing audits, the Audit Committee works to improve 
the effectiveness of internal controls.

Daikyo positions risk management as a key management issue and maintains sound management by comprehensively and appropriately managing 
risks that are likely to occur in the execution of business and conducts internal checks to address those risks as necessary as one aspect of its internal 
control systems.
 Business divisions fully investigate the risks associated with major business and investment projects, and decisions are made by the Executive Com-
mittee, the highest decision-making organization on the operational level, after a screening by the Group Risk Management Department. Subsequent 
monitoring is conducted regarding the status of profitability and other conditions.

For important management matters for Group companies, we have instituted administrative rules, requiring them to seek prior approval by the Company.
 In addition, we constantly monitor transactions of conflicts of interest or unusual transactions between the parent company and subsidiaries, with 
executive officers reporting as needed to the Audit Committee.
 The Group Audit Department conducts internal audit or advises for the Group companies, presenting its results of audits and other activities to the 
Audit Committee while endeavoring to improve the effectiveness of internal controls by pointing out and giving guidance on matters to improve to 
departments undergoing audits.
 The Group Compliance Department manages risk management for the Group while obtaining reports from Group companies when risk events occur, 
and providing instructions as needed.
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Interview with an Outside Director

How do you evaluate Daikyo’s corporate governance structure?
Compared with two years ago, not only has been the Board of 
Directors convened more often, but the content of discussion has also 
changed significantly. For example, one of the meetings of the Board 
of Directors was convened in Takamatsu City, Kagawa Prefecture, the 
location of the headquarters of Anabuki Construction Inc., and I believe 
this is one attempt that enabled the Board to gain a first-hand under-
standing of business sites and innovative approaches being under-
taken at worksites. Furthermore, executive officers overseeing 
worksites are encouraged to participate in the meeting of the Board of 
Directors as much as possible. I believe this participation has allowed 
us to get valuable input from worksites and that discussion is now 
deeper and more lively rather than just being a mere formality. As an 
outside director, I also feel that my own understanding of the Daikyo 
Group’s overall business has advanced.

The Corporate Governance Code was revised and several categories 
were added as roles and obligations of the Board of Directors. Among 
these, could you give us your thoughts on Daikyo’s succession plan as 
Chairman of the Nominating Committee?
In ordinary Japanese companies, it is a common case that reveals 
numerous cases of persons who have accumulated experience within a 
company to get promoted internally and then take the helm as a mem-
ber of management. In selecting a successor, this accumulated experi-
ence is of course important, but the depth and breadth as a person, 
such as the person’s areas of strength, also serves as one important 
element of the selection process. From the shareholders’ point of view, 
all that matters is for a company’s business to move upward and its 
stock price and corporate value to increase. Therefore, when selecting 
a person who will take on management responsibility, it is more impor-
tant to consider “What type of person is needed?” than “Who?” regard-
less of whether it be an internal director or outside director. The matters 
requested by the Corporate Governance Code, which mentions the 
appointment of foreign nationals and women to the position of directors 
from the perspective of diversity, also change in step with the times. 
However, if companies only change their cosmetic appearance, these 
changes will have no real meaning unless a company clarifies “Why was 
this person selected?” To shatter the status quo and achieve further 
growth, I believe it is essential to select the right person after undertak-
ing repeated discussions based on medium- and long-term thinking 
and foresight that consider the requisites for the Daikyo Group. Also, 

Toru Hambayashi
Outside Director of Daikyo Incorporated

Member of Nominating, Audit and  
Compensation Committees of  
Daikyo Incorporated

what kinds of structures and human resources are appropriate for satis-
fying these requisites should be taken into account.
 Outside directors are merely one of the key cogs that exist for govern-
ing a company. Ultimately, company management is up to executive 
officers responsible for internal business. The duty of outside directors is 
to provide accurate support that will help a company attain sustainable 
growth and raise medium- and long-term corporate value. As such, I 
believe it is crucial to express our opinions from an outside perspective. 
For example, I receive reports on the directors’ compensation system at 
the Compensation Committee and other bodies. On such occasions, I 
sometimes voice my candid opinions and ask tough questions. That 
said, outside directors are not omnipotent in every area. While respect-
ing Daikyo’s history and its corporate culture nurtured to the present, I 
regard my role as executing the function of checks and balances on 
management, bringing out Daikyo’s internal strengths and contributing 
to the growth and future development of the Company.

Could you tell us about your expectations of the Daikyo Group in the 
future as well as issues facing the Group?
I have always had the impression that Daikyo has numerous earnest and 
sincere employees. That said, I would like to see them take on the chal-
lenge of overturning the status quo. World changes are occuring at a 
breathtaking speed, and in Daikyo’s business environment the future 
might not necessarily continue to be bright when considering the declin-
ing birthrates, aging population and a peaking of the total income of 
young and middle-aged workers in the not-so-distant future. This situa-
tion is further aggravated by the problem of increasing vacant existing 
condominiums and detached houses. Daikyo could be overtaken by 
competitors if it spends too much time on decision making. No matter 
how much a company builds a solid financial base and gathers out-
standing human resources for growth, it will decline quickly if it becomes 
complacent with the status quo and fails to utilize these resources. For 
precisely this reason, I would like for Daikyo to possess an overwhelm-
ing thirst for proactively taking on the challenge of undertaking a variety 
of initiatives, including creating new businesses that can address 
 problems and risks as well as promote entry into different industries.
 Daikyo’s Medium-term Management Plan announced in 2016 is now 
in its third year, and the proactiveness of this plan is emerging little by 
little. This includes adopting new initiatives such as deploying artificial 
intelligence (AI) and other cutting-edge technologies as well as initiatives 
for raising corporate recognition by airing TV commercials. On the other 
hand, there are still many tasks to be accomplished for sparking an 
evolution that will make people recognize Daikyo’s transformation.  
To cultivate a culture for taking on challenges and breaking the status 
quo in a good sense with all directors, executives and employees shar-
ing the same goal, Daikyo must fully utilize all of its resources, including 
human resources. Also, to build a more highly efficient and lean operat-
ing business structure, change must first be made from inside the 
company. New changes will be created precisely because of a sense of 
crisis that “we will fall behind competitors if we remain the way we are.” 
For this reason, strong leadership from top management is critical. 
Moreover, with human resources being valuable assets for companies, I 
would like to see Daikyo work more earnestly than ever to enhance 
employee career development and promote the effective use of its 
human resources.
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Kazuo Kojima*

Toru Hambayashi Tomoharu Washio

Tsukasa Kimura*

Directors, Executive Officers and Group Executive

Outside Director Outside Director

Director Director

April 1980 Joined Orient Leasing Co., Ltd. (now ORIX Corporation)
April 2003 Deputy Head of Real Estate Finance Headquarters
February 2005 Executive Officer
January 2007 Corporate Senior Vice President
January 2008 Corporate Executive Vice President
June 2008 Director, Corporate Executive Vice President
June 2015 Director, Representative Executive Officer,  

Deputy President and Chief Financial Officer
January 2018 Director, President and Representative Executive Officer 

of DAIKYO INCORPORATED (current)

April 1959 Joined Japan Cotton Trading Co., Ltd. (predecessor of 
Nichimen Corporation)

April 1989 Director
October 2000 Representative Director and President
April 2003 Chairman and co-CEO of Nissho Iwai-Nichimen Holdings 

Corporation (now Sojitz Corporation)
November 2005 Outside Director of FAST RETAILING CO., LTD. (current)
June 2011 Director of DAIKYO INCORPORATED (current)
June 2015 Outside Director of Unitika Ltd. (current)

April 1970 Joined Japan External Trade Association (now Japan 
External Trade Organization)

July 1991 Deputy Chief of New York Office
April 1996 Member of Japan of Working Group on Trade and 

Investment for ASEAN Economic Minister – Minister of 
International Trade and Industry of Japan Meeting

January 2002 Representative of JETRO CHICAGO, Japan External 
Trade Organization

April 2005 General Manager of Overseas Investigation Department
April 2006 Executive Vice President
October 2008 Special advisor
October 2008 General Manager of International Affairs Dept., The Japan 

Economic Foundation
April 2010 Professor at School of International Studies, Kwansei 

Gakuin University
June 2015 Director of DAIKYO INCORPORATED (current)
April 2016 Fellow, Kwansei Gakuin University (current)

January 1989 Joined Orient Leasing Co., Ltd. (now ORIX Corporation)
July 2007 Deputy Head of Investment Banking Headquarters
September 2008 Assistant to Group Chief Executive Officer of DAIKYO 

INCORPORATED
November 2008 Corporate Executive Vice President
June 2009 Director, Corporate Executive Vice President
June 2013 Executive Officer of ORIX Corporation
January 2016 Corporate Executive Vice President of DAIKYO 

INCORPORATED 
 Executive Officer in Charge of Group Headquarter 

Functions (current)
June 2016 Director, Corporate Executive Vice President (current)
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Note: * indicates directors concurrently serving as executive officers.

Yuji Yamamoto

Executive Officers Group Executive

Outside Director

June 1975 Joined Tokyo Office of Arthur Andersen & Co.
September 1990 Representative Partner of Inoue Saito Eiwa Audit Corporation (now KPMG AZSA LLC)
June 1996 Representative Director of Asahi Arthur Andersen Ltd.
June 1999 Director and President
October 2003 Director and President of ASG Advisors, K.K.
October 2004 Director and President of Kokusai Motorcars Co., Ltd.
November 2006 Representative of Certified Public Accountant Yuji Yamamoto (current)
April 2007 Group CEO of Huron Consulting Group Ltd.
June 2007 Director of Nikko Cordial Corporation
June 2011 Outside Auditor of COCO’S JAPAN CO., LTD. (current)
June 2011 Outside Auditor of OBAYASHI ROAD CORPORATION
June 2011 Outside Auditor of RYOBI LIMITED
June 2012 Outside Auditor of ZENSHO HOLDINGS CO., LTD.
June 2015 Outside Director of RYOBI LIMITED (current)
June 2018 Director of DAIKYO INCORPORATED (current)

* President and Representative Executive Officer Kazuo Kojima
* Corporate Executive Vice President Tsukasa Kimura

Corporate Executive Vice President Eiji Ochiai
Managing Executive Officer Yoshihisa Fujihira
Managing Executive Officer Masaki Ushizawa
Managing Executive Officer Koji Miyake
Managing Executive Officer Yoshiaki Tokuda
Managing Executive Officer Kazuaki Kobashiri

Executive Officer Yukihito Seri
Executive Officer Toshihisa Kimura
Executive Officer Yasuhiro Mizuno
Executive Officer Kenji Fukaya
Executive Officer Yasuhiro Suzuki
Executive Officer Yoichi Ouchi

Group Executive Tsuyoshi Kiire
Group Executive Konosuke Miyakawa
Group Executive Makoto Tanaka

(As of July 1, 2018)
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166.0

144.9
156.4

2017201620152014

Net sales
(Billions of yen)

Total assets
(Billions of yen)

Profit attributable to
owners of parent
(Billions of yen)

Net assets
(Billions of yen)

Operating income
(Billions of yen)

Interest-bearing debt
(Billions of yen)

Millions of yen
Thousands of  

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2018

FOR THE YEAR:
 Net sales ¥351,623 ¥318,356 ¥295,374 ¥298,696 ¥302,610 ¥333,813 ¥317,154 ¥334,853 ¥325,360 ¥335,184 $3,154,971
 Gross profit (loss) (6,612) 36,527 39,415 46,711 48,635 49,388 48,209 48,042 49,591 51,054 480,558 
 Operating income (loss) (44,075) 9,098 13,597 22,069 22,101 16,910 18,124 18,318 20,523 20,174 189,895 
 Profit (loss) attributable to owners of parent (56,414) 6,307 9,752 21,787 15,535 20,790 12,154 12,628 14,044 13,851 130,374 
AT YEAR-END:
 Total assets ¥367,521 ¥330,456 ¥319,085 ¥290,261 ¥275,442 ¥297,812 ¥324,610 ¥274,594 ¥277,899 ¥276,661 $2,604,118
 Interest-bearing debt 182,449 160,760 140,304 91,032 69,164 63,646 57,324 38,484 28,930 26,503 249,468 
 Net assets 62,820 87,367 96,723 117,629 131,314 144,986 156,488 166,090 177,863 180,356 1,697,629 
PER SHARE DATA (yen and U.S. dollars):
 Profit (loss) attributable to owners of parent ¥(164.87) ¥  16.52 ¥  20.18 ¥  47.43 ¥  33.25 ¥  43.32 ¥  14.37 ¥  14.94 ¥   166.26 ¥   165.37 $  1.56 
 Net assets 79.81 116.67 136.78 184.10 214.99 167.69 181.42 192.86 2,068.79 2,174.65 20.47 
RATIOS:
 ROE (%) (64.4) 8.4 10.6 20.3 12.5 15.3 8.0 7.8 8.2 7.7 
 ROA (%) (10.6) 2.6 4.2 7.2 7.8 5.9 5.8 6.1 7.4 7.3 
 Shareholders’ equity ratio (%) 17.1 26.4 30.3 40.5 47.7 48.7 48.2 60.5 64.0 65.2 
 Debt to equity ratio (times) 2.91 1.84 1.45 0.77 0.53 0.44 0.37 0.23 0.16 0.15 
OTHER:
 Number of employees 6,894 7,257 7,226 3,712 3,940 5,088 5,196 5,256 5,411  5,621

Notes: 1. All dollar figures herein refer to U.S. currency. Dollar amounts are translated from yen, for convenience only, at ¥106.24=US$1.00, 
the approximate exchange rate prevailing on March 31, 2018.

 2. Fiscal 2011, fiscal 2013, fiscal 2014, and fiscal 2017 figures are presented retroactively.
  The method for calculating employee numbers changed from fiscal 2011. Contract and temporary employees are excluded from 

the number of employees.
  Effective as of October 1, 2017, every 10 existing ordinary shares have been consolidated into 1 ordinary share, and every 10 

existing preference shares have been consolidated into 1 preference share. The profit (loss) attributable to owners of parent and 
the net assets per share for fiscal 2017 are calculated as if the share consolidation took place at the beginning of fiscal 2017.

10-Year Financial Summary
Daikyo Incorporated and its consolidated subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2009–2018
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Net income per share (Note 2)
(Yen)

ROE
(%)

Net assets per share (Note 2)
(Yen)

ROA
(%)

Shareholders’ equity ratio
(%)

Debt to equity ratio
(Times)

Millions of yen
Thousands of  

U.S. dollars (Note 1)

2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2018

FOR THE YEAR:
 Net sales ¥351,623 ¥318,356 ¥295,374 ¥298,696 ¥302,610 ¥333,813 ¥317,154 ¥334,853 ¥325,360 ¥335,184 $3,154,971
 Gross profit (loss) (6,612) 36,527 39,415 46,711 48,635 49,388 48,209 48,042 49,591 51,054 480,558 
 Operating income (loss) (44,075) 9,098 13,597 22,069 22,101 16,910 18,124 18,318 20,523 20,174 189,895 
 Profit (loss) attributable to owners of parent (56,414) 6,307 9,752 21,787 15,535 20,790 12,154 12,628 14,044 13,851 130,374 
AT YEAR-END:
 Total assets ¥367,521 ¥330,456 ¥319,085 ¥290,261 ¥275,442 ¥297,812 ¥324,610 ¥274,594 ¥277,899 ¥276,661 $2,604,118
 Interest-bearing debt 182,449 160,760 140,304 91,032 69,164 63,646 57,324 38,484 28,930 26,503 249,468 
 Net assets 62,820 87,367 96,723 117,629 131,314 144,986 156,488 166,090 177,863 180,356 1,697,629 
PER SHARE DATA (yen and U.S. dollars):
 Profit (loss) attributable to owners of parent ¥(164.87) ¥  16.52 ¥  20.18 ¥  47.43 ¥  33.25 ¥  43.32 ¥  14.37 ¥  14.94 ¥   166.26 ¥   165.37 $  1.56 
 Net assets 79.81 116.67 136.78 184.10 214.99 167.69 181.42 192.86 2,068.79 2,174.65 20.47 
RATIOS:
 ROE (%) (64.4) 8.4 10.6 20.3 12.5 15.3 8.0 7.8 8.2 7.7 
 ROA (%) (10.6) 2.6 4.2 7.2 7.8 5.9 5.8 6.1 7.4 7.3 
 Shareholders’ equity ratio (%) 17.1 26.4 30.3 40.5 47.7 48.7 48.2 60.5 64.0 65.2 
 Debt to equity ratio (times) 2.91 1.84 1.45 0.77 0.53 0.44 0.37 0.23 0.16 0.15 
OTHER:
 Number of employees 6,894 7,257 7,226 3,712 3,940 5,088 5,196 5,256 5,411  5,621

  ROE = Profit attributable to owners of parent / average shareholder’s equity over the period
  ROA = Operating income / average total assets over the period
  Shareholders’ equity ratio = (Net assets – Share subscription rights – Non-controlling interests) / Total assets
  Debt to equity ratio = Interest-bearing debt / (Net assets – Share subscription rights – Non-controlling interests)
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Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 4)

ASSETS 2017 2018 2018

CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and deposits (Notes 6 and 17) ¥  89,736 ¥  90,135 $   848,413 
Notes and accounts receivable–trade (Note 6) 18,252 21,225 199,787 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 6) (22) (22) (208)
Inventories (Notes 5 and 10) 118,122 115,273 1,085,031 
Advance payments 647 500 4,710 
Deferred tax assets (Note 12) 2,886 1,520 14,316 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 6,304 6,972 65,632 

Total current assets 235,927 235,606 2,217,682 

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:
Land (Notes 5 and 10) 10,111 10,328 97,220 
Buildings and structures 7,391 7,818 73,596 
Furniture and other equipment 1,789 1,847 17,385 

19,293 19,994 188,203 
Accumulated depreciation (4,777) (5,099) (47,999)

Net property and equipment 14,516 14,895 140,203 

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER ASSETS:
Investment securities (Notes 6 and 8) 1,415 1,407 13,247 
Other investments 2,229 2,188 20,602 
Allowance for doubtful accounts (183) (137) (1,292)
Deferred tax assets (Note 12) 691 919 8,652 
Goodwill 9,293 8,360 78,697 
Other assets (Note 10) 14,010 13,420 126,325 

Total investments and other assets 27,456 26,159 246,232 

Total assets ¥277,899 ¥276,661 $2,604,118 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
As of March 31, 2017 and 2018
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Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 4)

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 2017 2018 2018

CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Short-term borrowings (Notes 6 and 10) ¥         —  ¥    3,000 $     28,237 
Current portion of long-term debt (Notes 6 and 10) 9,937 4,828 45,452 
Notes and accounts payable–trade (Note 6) 20,283 21,698 204,244 
Advances received 8,021 6,215 58,502 
Accrued expenses 4,485 4,210 39,632 
Income taxes payable (Note 12) 3,015 3,030 28,525 
Other current liabilities 15,874 15,747 148,221 

  Total current liabilities 61,618 58,731 552,817 

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES:
Long-term debt  (Notes 6 and 10) 18,993 18,674 175,777 
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 12) 2,028 1,875 17,658 
Net defined benefit liability (Note 11) 9,739 9,735 91,639 
Other liabilities (Note 10) 7,655 7,287 68,595 

  Total long-term liabilities 38,417 37,574 353,671 
  Total liabilities 100,036 96,305 906,488 

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (Note 13)
NET ASSETS: (Note 14)
Shareholders’ equity:
 Capital stock (Note 15)
  Common stock
   Authorized: 115,240,000 shares at March 31, 2017 and 2018
   Issued:  84,354,273 shares at March 31, 2017 and 2018
  Preferred stock
   Authorized: 1,000,000 shares at March 31, 2017 and 2018
   Issued: 1,000,000 shares at March 31, 2017 and 2018 41,171 41,171 387,533 
 Capital surplus 38,098 38,098 358,605 
 Retained earnings 99,530 108,282 1,019,224 
 Treasury stock (1,339) (7,828) (73,683)

177,461 179,723 1,691,679 
Accumulated other comprehensive income:

Net unrealized gains on other securities (Note 8) 464 479 4,514 
Foreign currency translation adjustments (9) 50 474 
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (Note 11) (52) 102 961 

401 632 5,950
  Total net assets 177,863 180,356 1,697,629 

  Total liabilities and net assets ¥277,899 ¥276,661 $2,604,118 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 4)
2017 2018 2018

NET SALES ¥325,360 ¥335,184 $3,154,971 
COST OF SALES 275,769 284,129 2,674,413 
  Gross profit 49,591 51,054 480,558 

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 29,067 30,880 290,663 
  Operating income 20,523 20,174 189,895 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES):
Interest and dividend income 72 49 466 
Interest expense (271) (203) (1,912)
Impairment loss on fixed assets (536) — —
Reversal of provision incurred from business combination  38 — —
Other, net (413) (275) (2,590)

Income before income taxes 19,412 19,745 185,858 

INCOME TAXES (Note 12):
 Current 4,671 4,947 46,570 
 Deferred 696 946 8,913 

Profit 14,044 13,851 130,374 
Profit attributable to owners of parent ¥  14,044 ¥  13,851 $   130,374 

 Yen U.S. dollars (Note 4)
PER SHARE (Note 15):
 Profit attributable to owners of parent ¥166.26 ¥165.37 $1.56 
 Fully diluted profit 164.95 164.03 1.54 
 Cash dividends—Common stock 6.00 60.00 0.56 
 Cash dividends—Preferred stock Class 1 7.736 75.12 0.71 

Consolidated Statements of Income and Comprehensive Income
For the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2018

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 4)
2017 2018 2018

Profit ¥14,044 ¥13,851 $130,374 
Other comprehensive income:

Net unrealized gains on other securities 23 15 146 
Foreign currency translation adjustment (32) 59 561 
Remeasurements of defined benefit plans (Note 11) 341 155 1,459 

Total other comprehensive income 333 230 2,166 
Comprehensive income (Note 16) ¥14,377 ¥14,081 $132,541 

Comprehensive income attributable to owners of parent 14,377 14,081 132,541 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets
For the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2018

Millions of yen

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Capital Stock Capital Surplus
Retained 
Earnings Treasury Stock

 
Total 

Shareholders’ 
Equity

Balance at April 1, 2016 ¥41,171 ¥38,098 ¥  88,088 ¥(1,335) ¥166,022 
Changes during the year:

Cash dividends (2,601) (2,601)
Profit attributable to owners of parent 14,044 14,044 
Acquisition of treasury stock (3) (3)
Retirement of treasury stock (0) 0 0 
Transfer from retained earnings to capital surplus 0 (0) —
Other changes during the year, net

Total change during the year, net                   —                   — 11,442 (3) 11,439 
Balance at April 1, 2017 ¥41,171 ¥38,098 ¥  99,530 ¥(1,339) ¥177,461 
Changes during the year:

Cash dividends (5,117) (5,117)
Profit attributable to owners of parent 13,851 13,851 
Acquisition of treasury stock (6,488) (6,488)
Retirement of treasury stock (0) 0 0 
Change in scope of consolidation 18 18 
Transfer from retained earnings to capital surplus 0 (0) 0 
Other changes during the year, net

Total change during the year, net  —  — 8,751 (6,488) 2,262 
Balance at March 31, 2018 ¥41,171 ¥38,098 ¥108,282 ¥(7,828) ¥179,723 

Millions of yen

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

TOTAL NET 
ASSETS

Net Unrealized 
Gains on Other 

Securities

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Adjustments

Remeasure-
ments of 

Defined Benefit 
Plans

Total Accu-
mulated Other 
Comprehensive 

Income

Balance at April 1, 2016 ¥440 ¥ 22 ¥(394) ¥  68 ¥166,090 
Changes during the year:

Cash dividends (2,601)
Profit attributable to owners of parent 14,044 
Acquisition of treasury stock (3)
Retirement of treasury stock 0 
Transfer from retained earnings to capital surplus —
Other changes during the year, net 23 (32) 341 333 333 

Total change during the year, net 23 (32) 341 333 11,772 
Balance at April 1, 2017 ¥464 ¥  (9) ¥  (52) ¥401 ¥177,863 
Changes during the year:

Cash dividends (5,117)
Profit attributable to owners of parent 13,851 
Acquisition of treasury stock (6,488)
Retirement of treasury stock 0 
Change in scope of consolidation 18 
Transfer from retained earnings to capital surplus —
Other changes during the year, net 15 59 155 230 230 

Total change during the year, net 15 59 155 230 2,492 
Balance at March 31, 2018 ¥479 ¥ 50 ¥ 102 ¥632 ¥180,356 
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Net Assets (continued)
For the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2018

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 4)

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Capital Stock Capital Surplus
Retained 
Earnings Treasury Stock

 
Total 

Shareholders’ 
Equity

Balance at April 1, 2017 $387,533 $358,605 $   936,848 $(12,606) $1,670,381 
Changes during the year:

Cash dividends (48,170) (48,170)
Profit attributable to owners of parent 130,374 130,374 
Acquisition of treasury stock (61,077) (61,077)
Retirement of treasury stock (0) 0 0 
Change in scope of consolidation 170 170 
Transfer from retained earnings to capital surplus 0 (0)  — 
Other changes during the year, net

Total change during the year, net  —  — 82,375 (61,077) 21,297 
Balance at March 31, 2018 $387,533 $358,605 $1,019,224 $(73,683) $1,691,679 

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 4)

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

TOTAL NET 
ASSETS

Net Unrealized 
Gains on Other 

Securities

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 
Adjustments

Remeasure-
ments of 

Defined Benefit 
Plans

Total Accu-
mulated Other 
Comprehensive 

Income

Balance at April 1, 2017 $4,368 $ (86) $  (497) $3,783 $1,674,164 
Changes during the year:

Cash dividends (48,170)
Profit attributable to owners of parent 130,374 
Acquisition of treasury stock (61,077)
Retirement of treasury stock 0 
Change in scope of consolidation 170 
Transfer from retained earnings to capital surplus  — 
Other changes during the year, net 146 561 1,459 2,166 2,166 

Total change during the year, net 146 561 1,459 2,166 23,464 
Balance at March 31, 2018 $4,514 $474 $   961 $5,950 $1,697,629 
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Millions of yen
Thousands of

U.S. dollars (Note 4)
2017 2018 2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Income before income taxes ¥ 19,412 ¥ 19,745 $ 185,858 
Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization 2,831 2,698 25,398 
Impairment loss on fixed assets 536 — —
Changes in allowance for doubtful accounts 10 (48) (453)
Interest and dividend income (72) (49) (466)
Interest expense 271 203 1,912 
Loss on sales and retirement of property and equipment 57 44 416 

Changes in notes and accounts receivable–trade (1,057) (2,923) (27,516)
Changes in advances received (1,011) (1,863) (17,544)
Changes in real estate inventories and advance payments (7,774) 2,598 24,458 
Changes in notes and accounts payable–trade 2,516 1,347 12,686 
Changes in deposits payable 479 (889) (8,375)
Other 3,663 (606) (5,713)

Sub-total 19,863 20,255 190,661 
Interest and dividends received 93 45 432 
Interest paid (274) (214) (2,015)
Income taxes paid (4,453) (4,745) (44,666)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 15,229 15,342 144,412 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Payments for purchase of property and equipment and intangible assets (732) (974) (9,171)
Proceeds from sales of property and equipment and intangible assets 4 12 114 
Payments for purchase of investment securities (1) (1) (15)
Proceeds from sales of investment securities 0 — — 
Payments into time deposits (6,000) (0) (0)
Proceeds from withdrawal of time deposits 5,000 6,000 56,475 
Other 123 40 376 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (1,606) 5,076 47,779 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Changes in short-term borrowings (100) 3,000 28,237 
Proceeds from long-term borrowings 2,247 5,200 48,945 
Repayment of long-term borrowings (11,700) (8,621) (81,146)
Payments for redemption of bonds — (2,000) (18,825)
Repayment of rehabilitation claims (55) (55) (520)
Purchase of own shares (3) (6,488) (61,077)
Cash dividends paid (2,597) (5,110) (48,105)
Other (8) (10) (102)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (12,217) (14,086) (132,594)

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (12) 3 35 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ¥   1,392 ¥   6,335 $   59,632 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 82,329 83,722 788,049 
INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT FROM NEWLY CONSOLIDATED  
  SUBSIDIARY — 63 598 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR (Note 17) ¥ 83,722 ¥ 90,121 $ 848,280 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2018
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Daikyo Incorporated and its consolidated subsidiaries
For the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2018

01   BASIS OF PRESENTATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of DAIKYO INCORPORATED (the “Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries 
(collectively, the “Group”) have been prepared in accordance with the provisions set forth in the Japanese Financial Instruments 
and Exchange Act and its related accounting regulations, and in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan 
(“Japanese GAAP”), which are different in certain respects as to application and disclosure requirements from International Financial 
Reporting Standards.
 The accounting policies of the overseas subsidiaries are basically integrated with those of the Company unless they are prepared 
differently in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards or U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, in which 
case a limited number of items have been adjusted to Japanese GAAP. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have 
been restructured and translated into English (with certain expanded disclosures) from the consolidated financial statements of 
the Company prepared in accordance with Japanese GAAP and filed with the appropriate Local Finance Bureau of the Ministry of 
Finance as required by the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act. Certain supplementary information included in the statutory 
Japanese language consolidated financial statements, but not required for fair presentation, is not presented in the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements.
 Certain prior year amounts in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto have been reclassified to conform to the 
current year presentation.

02   ACCOUNTING CHANGES
Securities held for the purpose of earning capital gains through increased business value of the investee companies have previously 
been presented in “investment securities”. From the current fiscal year, however, they are classified as operational investment 
securities and presented in “other current assets”. Gains and losses on those securities that are classified as operational investment 
securities are recognized in operating income.
 The Company has determined that investment in securities for the purpose stated above represents operating activities, and it has 
also changed its organizational structure to further such investment. This change in the classification and presentation is designed to 
ensure that such investment holdings are presented in the financial statements in a manner that more faithfully represents the actual 
nature of the investment.
 This change in the accounting policy is applied retrospectively and the comparative consolidated financial statements for the 
previous fiscal year have been adjusted to reflect the change.
 The retrospective application of this accounting policy change has resulted in an increase in “other current assets” by ¥13 million 
($129 thousand) and a corresponding decrease in “investment securities” in the comparative consolidated financial statements for 
the previous fiscal year.

03   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(1) CONSOLIDATION
The Company has 13 subsidiaries as at March 31, 2018 (13 subsidiaries as at March 31, 2017). The consolidated financial statements 
include the accounts of the Company and 12 significant subsidiaries as at March 31, 2018 (11 in 2017).
 The major subsidiaries consolidated with the Company at the year ended March 31, 2018 are as follows:

Equity ownership percentage

DAIKYO ASTAGE INCORPORATED 100%

ORIX Facilities Corporation  100

DAIKYO ANABUKI CONSTRUCTION INCORPORATED 100

DAIKYO ANABUKI REAL ESTATE INCORPORATED 100

Anabuki Construction Inc. 100

 All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
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(2) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
 (a) Securities
  Held-to-maturity debt securities that the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have and intend to hold until maturity are 

stated at amortized cost. Investments in non-consolidated subsidiaries not accounted for under the equity method are stated 
at cost using the moving-average method. Other securities with quoted market prices are stated at their quoted market prices 
at the balance sheet date, and other securities with no quoted market prices available are stated at cost using the moving-
average method. Net unrealized gains or losses on other securities are reported as a separate component of net assets, net 
of applicable income taxes.

   In cases where the fair value of held-to-maturity debt securities or other securities has declined significantly and such 
impairment of the value is considered other than temporary, the difference between the carrying amount and its fair value is 
recognized as an impairment loss, and is reported in the consolidated statement of income for the period.

   Debt securities maturing within one year are presented as “current” and all the other securities are presented as “non-
current” on the consolidated balance sheet.

 (b) Derivatives
  The Company enters into interest rate swap only for hedging risks from fluctuation in interest rates. The interest rate swap 

meeting the requirement of exceptional treatment under Japanese GAAP is not measured at fair value and differences 
between payment amount and receipt amount are included in the interest expenses.

   The Company also enters into foreign exchange forwards and non-deliverable foreign exchange forwards only for hedging 
risks from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. Such foreign exchange forwards and non-deliverable foreign exchange 
forwards are not designated as hedging instruments and unrealized gains and losses arising from these derivatives instruments 
are recognized in earnings.

(3) INVENTORIES AND BASIS OF REVENUE RECOGNITION
Real estate for sale (i.e., real estate held for sale), real estate for sale in progress (i.e., real estate held for sale before completion), 
and real estate for development projects (i.e., real estate before the start of construction) are stated at cost, using the specific 
identification method.
 The write-down of inventories due to decreased profitability is reflected in the valuation of the respective asset components and 
the accompanying loss is recognized as cost of sales, in principle. The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries recorded a 
write-down on the value of inventory of ¥45 million and ¥62 million ($589 thousand) for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2018, 
respectively.
 Revenue from sales of condominiums and land is recognized when units are delivered and accepted by customers.
 Revenue from leasing of office space and shops is recognized as rent accrued over the lease term.
 Revenue and its related costs from construction work are recognized by the percentage-of-completion method, with the exception 
of short-term contracts. If the outcome of the construction activity is not deemed certain during the course of such activity, the 
completed contract method is applied.

(4) PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 
Property and equipment, including significant renewals and improvements, are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation. 
Maintenance and repairs, including minor renewals and betterments, are charged to income as incurred. Depreciation is computed 
mostly using the straight-line method for buildings and structures, and computed using the declining-balance method for furniture 
and other equipment based on the estimated useful lives of the assets. 
 Fixed assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an 
asset may not be recoverable. If an asset is considered to be impaired, the impairment loss is recognized in the period. 
 When retired or disposed of, the difference between the net book value and sales proceeds is charged or credited to income. 
 Estimated useful lives for buildings and structures range from 3 to 60 years. 

(5) GOODWILL
Goodwill is amortized using the straight-line method over periods of 5 to 20 years.
 Negative goodwill resulted from business combinations made prior to April 1, 2010 is amortized using the straight-line method for 
20 years.
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(6) ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS 
A general allowance for doubtful accounts is provided at an amount calculated based on historical loss experience, while specific 
allowances for doubtful accounts are provided for the estimated amounts considered to be uncollectible after reviewing and 
assessing collectability of individual accounts.

(7) RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries have defined benefit retirement plans that include corporate defined 
benefit pension plans (CDBPs) and lump-sum payment plans, covering substantially all of their employees who meet eligibility 
requirements under the retirement regulations. Under the plans, employees whose service with the Company is terminated are, 
under most circumstances, entitled to lump-sum severance indemnities and/or pension annuity payments, determined by reference 
to current basic rate of pay, length of service and conditions under which the termination occurs.
 The Company and certain domestic subsidiaries also have defined contribution pension plans, covering substantially all of their 
employees. The pension benefits are determined based on years of service and the compensation amount as stipulated in the 
regulations.
 In determining retirement benefit obligations, the benefit formula basis is used as a method of attributing expected benefit to 
periods. Net defined benefit liability is recognized based on the estimated present value of projected benefit obligations in excess 
of the fair value of the plan assets at the end of each fiscal year. Prior service costs are expensed as incurred. Net actuarial gains or 
losses are amortized under the straight-line method over 5 to 10 years, based on the employees’ average remaining service period, 
commencing from the following fiscal year after they arise.
 Certain domestic subsidiaries apply the simplified method to calculate net defined benefit liability and retirement benefit costs for 
CDBPs and lump-sum payments plans.

(8) DIRECTORS’ RETIREMENT BENEFITS 
Provision for the retirement benefits for directors is based on the estimated future payments to directors in accordance with the 
Company’s internal rules and regulations. This provision is included in other liabilities.

(9) INCOME TAXES 
Provision for income taxes is computed based on income before income taxes in the consolidated statements of income. The asset 
and liability approach is used to recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts and tax basis of the assets and liabilities and the tax loss carry forwards. The Company 
and its wholly-owned domestic subsidiaries have adopted the consolidated taxation system.

(10) LEASE CONTRACTS 
(Lease assets related to finance leases that do not transfer ownership) 
 Depreciation of assets used under finance leases that do not transfer ownership is calculated based on the assumption that the 
useful life equals to the lease term and the residual value equals to zero. 

(11) NET INCOME AND FULLY DILUTED NET INCOME PER SHARE
Net income attributable to owners of parent per share is computed based on the weighted average number of shares of common 
stock issued and outstanding during each fiscal period.
 Diluted net income per share is computed based on the profit attributable to owners of parent and the weighted average number 
of shares of common stock outstanding during the year after giving effect to the dilutive potential of shares of common stock to be 
issued upon the exercise of preferred stock and stock subscription rights.

(12) NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET ADOPTED
The new accounting standards and other pronouncements that have been issued which the Company and its subsidiaries have not 
yet adopted as of March 31, 2018 are as follows.
(Implementation guidances on tax effect accounting)
•	 Implementation	Guidance	on	Tax	Effect	Accounting	(ASBJ	Guidance	No.	28,	February	16,	2018)
•	 Implementation	Guidance	on	Recoverability	of	Deferred	Tax	Assets	(ASBJ	Guidance	No.	26	(revised	2018),	February	16,	2018)
 The Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries will adopt these guidances from the beginning of the fiscal year ending 
March 31, 2019. The impact of adoping these guidances is currently being assessed.
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(Accounting standards for revenue recognition)
•	 Accounting	Standard	for	Revenue	Recognition	(ASBJ	Statement	No.	29,	March	30,	2018)
•	 Implementation	Guidance	on	Accounting	Standard	for	Revenue	Recognition	(ASBJ	Guidance	No.	30,	March	30,	2018)
 The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries have not yet determined when the accounting standard and implementation 
guidance for revenue recognition should be adopted. The impact of adopting them is currently being assessed.

04   U.S. DOLLAR PRESENTATION
The translation of yen amounts into U.S. dollar amounts is included using the prevailing exchange rate as at March 31, 2018, which 
is ¥106.24 to U.S.$1.00. The inclusion of such U.S. dollar amounts in the accompanying consolidated financial statements is solely 
for the convenience of the reader and is not intended to imply that Japanese yen amounts have been or could be readily converted, 
realized or settled into U.S. dollars at the prevailing or any other exchange rate.

05   INVENTORIES
Inventories as at March 31, 2017 and 2018 consisted of:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Real estate for sale ¥  45,885 ¥  49,748 $   468,266

Real estate for sale in progress 43,622 47,174 444,039

Real estate for development projects 26,482 16,614 156,390

Other 2,132 1,735 16,335

  Total ¥118,122 ¥115,273 $1,085,031

 In the year ended March 31, 2017, land in the amount of ¥3,480 million was transferred from property and equipment to real estate 
for development projects due to a change in holding purpose.

06   FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Information on financial instruments for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2018 is as follows:

 
(1) OVERVIEW

(a) Policies concerning financial instruments
The Group procures funds required primarily through borrowings from financial institutions and the issuance of bonds. Temporary 
excess funds are managed using highly stable financial instruments. The Group uses derivative instruments in order to hedge 
against interest rate fluctuations and does not enter into derivative transactions for trading or speculative purposes, in accordance 
with its internal policy.

(b) Content and risk of financial instruments, and risk management system
Notes and accounts receivable–trade are subject to the credit risk of customers. The Group is taking steps to mitigate such 
risk by managing the payment deadlines and outstanding balance of each party, requesting periodic reports on delinquent 
receivables, and quickly ascertaining conditions regarding collection. 

Investment securities are primarily bonds that the Group intends to hold until maturity and the shares of companies with which 
the Group holds business relationships, and these are subject to the risk of fluctuations in market prices. With regard to such 
risk, their fair values and financial conditions of the issuers are periodically monitored. The holding of securities other than bonds 
held until maturity is continually reviewed.

Notes and accounts payable–trade are mostly due within one year.
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The Group uses derivative instruments (interest rate swap transactions) for a certain portion of these liabilities as hedging 
instruments to mitigate interest rate fluctuation risks and to fix its interest payments. With regard to the method of evaluation of 
hedge effectiveness, the Group omitted the evaluation of the effectiveness as the requirements for special treatment of interest-
rate swaps are satisfied.

Trade payables, borrowings and bonds are subject to liquidity risks, but the Group manages such risks by preparing cash flow 
plans and revising them as appropriate.

With regard to derivative transactions, the Group deals exclusively with Japanese financial institutions that have high 
creditworthiness. The finance department handles derivative transactions based on the internal rules that stipulate policies and 
the range of derivatives and the like. The balance of derivative transactions and the gains or loss from valuation are reported to 
the director in charge of finance.

(c) Supplementary explanation concerning financial instruments
The fair value of financial instruments includes value based on market prices and also value calculated in a reasonable manner 
when there is no market price. As variable factors are incorporated into the calculation of such values, the values may change as 
a result of the adoption of different assumptions and the like.

(2) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The consolidated balance sheet amount, fair value and difference as of March 31, 2017 and 2018 are shown below. However, items 
for which it is extremely difficult to determine the fair value have not been included in the following table: 

Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31, 2017
Consolidated balance sheet 

amount Fair value Difference

(1) Cash and deposits ¥  89,736 ¥  89,736 ¥  —
(2) Notes and accounts receivable–trade 18,252
 Allowance for doubtful accounts*  (15)

¥  18,237 ¥  18,237 ¥  —
(3) Operational investment securities and 
 investment securities
 Other securities 1,210 1,210 —

Total assets ¥109,184 ¥109,184 ¥  —

(1) Notes and accounts payable–trade ¥  20,283 ¥  20,283 ¥  —
(2) Short-term borrowings and
 current portion of long-term borrowings 7,931 7,932 1
(3) Bonds due within one year 2,000 2,016 16
(4) Long-term borrowings 18,987 19,183 196

Total liabilities ¥  49,201 ¥  49,416 ¥214
Derivatives ¥         21 ¥         21 ¥  —

* The allowance for doubtful accounts related to notes and accounts receivable–trade has been deducted. 
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Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31, 2018
Consolidated balance sheet 

amount Fair value Difference

(1) Cash and deposits ¥  90,135 ¥  90,135 ¥  —
(2) Notes and accounts receivable–trade 21,225
 Allowance for doubtful accounts*1  (13)

¥  21,211 ¥  21,211 ¥  —
(3) Operational investment securities and
 investment securities
 Other securities 1,234 1,234 —

Total assets ¥112,582 ¥112,582 ¥  —
(1) Notes and accounts payable–trade ¥  21,698 ¥  21,698 ¥  —
(2) Short-term borrowings and
 current portion of long-term borrowings 7,827 7,829 2
(3) Bonds due within one year — — —
(4) Long-term borrowings 18,670 18,876 206

Total liabilities ¥  48,195 ¥  48,404 ¥208
Derivatives*2 ¥         18 ¥         18 ¥  —

 Thousands of U.S. dollars

For the year ended March 31, 2018
Consolidated balance sheet 

amount Fair value Difference

(1) Cash and deposits $   848,413 $   848,413 $     —
(2) Notes and accounts receivable–trade 199,787
 Allowance for doubtful accounts*1  (126)

$   199,660 $   199,660 $     —
(3) Operational investment securities and
 investment securities
 Other securities 11,623 11,623 —

Total assets $1,059,696 $1,059,696 $     —
(1) Notes and accounts payable–trade $   204,244 $   204,244 $     —
(2) Short-term borrowings and
 current portion of long-term borrowings 73,672 73,696 23
(3) Bonds due within one year — — —
(4) Long-term borrowings 175,734 177,674 1,940

Total liabilities $   453,651 $   455,615 $1,963
Derivatives*2 $          176 $          176 $     —

*1 The allowance for doubtful accounts related to notes and accounts receivable–trade has been deducted. 
*2 Assets and liabilities arising from derivatives transactions are stated at their net value, and the figures represent net asset value. 

(3) FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS FOR WHICH IT IS EXTREMELY DIFFICULT TO DETERMINE THE FAIR VALUE
Book value

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Other securities
 Unlisted stocks ¥218 ¥186 $1,752
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(4) REDEMPTION SCHEDULE OF PECUNIARY CLAIMS AND HELD-TO-MATURITY SECURITIES
Maturity value

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Cash and deposits

 Within one year ¥  89,736 ¥  90,135 $   848,413

Notes and accounts receivable–trade

 Within one year 18,252 21,225 199,787

Total

 Within one year ¥107,989 ¥111,360 $1,048,200

07   DERIVATIVES
(1) Derivative transaction to which hedge accounting is not applied:
Currency related transactions

For the year ended March 31, 2017 Millions of yen

Type of transaction Contract amount
Contract amount 
due after one year Fair value

Unrealized gain 
(loss)

Non-market transaction Forward foreign  
exchange contracts  
to sell foreign currency:  
A.U. dollars

¥560 ¥ — ¥21 ¥21

For the year ended March 31, 2018 Millions of yen

Type of transaction Contract amount
Contract amount 
due after one year Fair value

Unrealized gain 
(loss)

Non-market transaction Forward foreign  
exchange contracts  
to sell foreign currency:  
A.U. dollars

¥656 ¥ — ¥19 ¥19

 NDF  
to sell foreign currency:
N.T. dollars

7 ¥ — (0) (0)

 Total ¥664 ¥ — ¥18 ¥18

For the year ended March 31, 2018 Thousands of U.S. dollars

Type of transaction Contract amount
Contract amount 
due after one year Fair value

Unrealized gain 
(loss)

Non-market transaction Forward foreign  
exchange contracts  
to sell foreign currency:  
A.U. dollars

$6,177 $ — $178 $178

 NDF  
to sell foreign currency:
N.T. dollars

73 $ — (2) (2)

 Total $6,251 $ — $176 $176
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(2) Derivative transaction to which hedge accounting is applied:
Interest related transactions

For the year ended March 31, 2017 Millions of yen

Method of hedge accounting Type of transaction Hedged item Contract amount
Contract amount 
due after one year Fair value

Exceptional treatment for 
interest rate swap

Interest rate swaps:
fixed rate payment,  
floating rate receipt

Long-term 
borrowings ¥3,000 ¥3,000 *

For the year ended March 31, 2018 Millions of yen

Method of hedge accounting Type of transaction Hedged item Contract amount
Contract amount 
due after one year Fair value

Exceptional treatment for 
interest rate swap

Interest rate swaps:
fixed rate payment,  
floating rate receipt

Long-term 
borrowings ¥3,000 ¥3,000 *

For the year ended March 31, 2018 Thousands of U.S. dollars

Method of hedge accounting Type of transaction Hedged item Contract amount
Contract amount 
due after one year Fair value

Exceptional treatment for 
interest rate swap

Interest rate swaps:
fixed rate payment,  
floating rate receipt

Long-term 
borrowings $28,237 $28,237 *

*  Interest rate swap under exceptional treatment is accounted for together with long-term borrowings designated as the hedge item. Therefore, 
their fair values are included in the fair value of the long-term borrowings.

08   SECURITIES
Information regarding the marketable and investment securities as at March 31, 2017 and 2018 is summarized as follows:

(1) OTHER SECURITIES WITH MARKET VALUE AVAILABLE

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Securities whose market value exceeds acquisition cost 

 Stocks 

  Acquisition cost  ¥   559 ¥   561 $  5,285

  Market value 1,210 1,234 11,623

  Difference 650 673 6,337

(2) OTHER SECURITIES SOLD DURING THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2017 and 2018

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Amount sold ¥  0 ¥ — $ —

Gain — — —
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(3) INVESTMENTS IN NON-CONSOLIDATED SUBSIDIARIES

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Investment securities ¥73 ¥41 $385

09   LEASE TRANSACTIONS
Lessee

 
The minimum future lease payments under non-cancelable operating leases as at March 31, 2017 and 2018 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Within one year ¥   485 ¥   688 $  6,482

Over one year 1,046 869 8,186

  Total ¥1,532 ¥1,558 $14,668

 
Lessor

 
The minimum future lease income under non-cancelable operating leases as at March 31, 2017 and 2018 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Within one year ¥   582 ¥   582 $  5,486

Over one year 1,519 936 8,815

  Total ¥2,102 ¥1,519 $14,302

 

10   SHORT-TERM DEBT AND LONG-TERM DEBT
Short-term debt and long-term debt as at March 31, 2017 and 2018 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

 
Average 

interest rate2017 2018 2018

Short-term debt
 Short-term borrowings ¥       — ¥  3,000 $  28,237 0.73%
 Current portion of long-term borrowings 7,931 4,827 45,434 0.61
 Bonds due within one year 2,000 — — —
 Current portion of lease obligations 6 1 18 2.45
Long-term debt
 Long-term borrowings 18,987 18,670 175,734 0.68
 Lease obligations 6 4 43 2.22
  Total ¥28,930 ¥26,503 $249,468
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Borrowings secured by collateral as at March 31, 2017 and 2018 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Short-term borrowings ¥1,490 ¥  — $     —
Other (Long-term liabilities) 221 165 1,561
  Total ¥1,711 ¥165 $1,561

Bonds as at March 31, 2017 and 2018 consisted of the following:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

1.79% domestic straight bonds, due 2017 ¥2,000 ¥— $—

The aggregate annual maturities during the next five years and thereafter of long-term borrowings including the current portion 
outstanding as at March 31, 2018 are as follows:

Year ending March 31 Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2019 ¥  4,827 $  45,434
2020 7,070 66,547
2021 2,200 20,707
2022 4,600 43,298
2023 4,800 45,180
2024 and thereafter
  Total ¥23,497 $221,169

Assets pledged as collateral for short-term borrowings and long-term borrowings with banks as at March 31, 2017 and 2018 are as 
follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Real estate for sale in progress ¥2,381 ¥     — $       —

Land 524 524 4,932

Other assets 1,641 1,641 15,454

  Total ¥4,547 ¥2,165 $20,386

11   EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
The Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries have defined benefit retirement plans that include corporate defined 
benefit pension plans (CDBPs) and lump-sum payment plans as well as defined contribution pension plans, among others.

Certain domestic subsidiaries apply the simplified method to calculate net defined benefit liability and retirement benefit costs for 
CDBPs and lump-sum payment plans.

In the current fiscal year, the Company and its major consolidated domestic subsidiaries introduced a defined pension plan. It is 
the choice of each employee to decide whether or not they opt in to the plan. This defined benefit pension plan is a multi-employer 
plan that pools the assets contributed by various companies that are not under common control; and it is not possible to reasonably 
determine the share of the plan assets corresponding to the assets contributed by the Company and its major consolidated domestic 
subsidiaries. Therefore, the contribution payable to the defined benefit plan is accounted for as if it is a contribution payable to a 
defined contribution plan and it is expensed as incurred.
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(1) DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

a) Movements in retirement benefit obligations:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Balance at beginning of year ¥16,603 ¥16,638 $156,610
 Service costs 1,147 1,182 11,132
 Interest costs 119 122 1,157
 Actuarial loss (43) (85) (800)
 Benefits paid (670) (536) (5,048)
 Past service costs 0 — —
 Decrease due to switch to defined contribution pension plans (517) — —
 Other — 9 93
Balance at end of year ¥16,638 ¥17,332 $163,145

b) Movements in plan assets:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Balance at beginning of year ¥6,691 ¥6,898 $64,934

 Expected return on plan assets 197 206 1,947

 Actuarial gain 31 82 773

 Contributions paid by the employer 581 626 5,892

 Benefits paid (312) (217) (2,043)

 Decrease due to switch to defined contribution pension plans (290) — —

Balance at end of year ¥6,898 ¥7,596 $71,505

c) Reconciliations from retirement benefit obligations and plan assets to net defined benefit liability and net defined benefit asset:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Funded retirement benefit obligations ¥ 7,638 ¥ 7,927 $ 74,617
Plan assets (6,898) (7,596) (71,505)

739 330 3,112
Unfunded retirement benefit obligations 8,999 9,405 88,527
Total net defined benefit liability as at March 31, 2017 and 2018 9,739 9,735 91,639

Net defined benefit liability 9,739 9,735 91,639
Net defined benefit asset — — —
Total net defined benefit liability as at March 31, 2017 and 2018 ¥ 9,739 ¥ 9,735 $ 91,639
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d) Retirement benefit costs:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Service costs ¥1,147 ¥1,182 $11,132
Interest costs 119 122 1,157
Expected return on plan assets (197) (206) (1,947)
Net actuarial loss amortization 304 18 174
Past service costs amortization 0 — —
Total retirement benefit costs  
  for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2018

¥1,373 ¥1,117 $10,516

e) Remeasurements of defined benefit plans:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Actuarial gains and losses ¥379 ¥185 $1,748

f) Amount recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Actuarial gains and losses that are yet to be recognized ¥125 ¥(60) $(569)

g) Plan assets:
2017 2018

Plan assets comprise:
 Equity securities 38% 41%
 Bonds 29 29
 Alternatives* 24 21
 Cash and deposits 3 3
 Other 6 6
Total 100% 100%

* “Alternatives” consist mostly of investments in funds investing in insurance products and privately placed REITs.

h) Actuarial assumptions:
The principal actuarial assumptions as at March 31, 2017 and 2018 are as follows:

2017 2018

Discount rate 0.3–0.9% 0.3–0.9%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets 3.0% 3.0%

(2) DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PENSION PLANS

The required contribution amount for the Company and its domestic subsidiaries for the year ended March 31, 2017 is ¥430 million, 
and the amount for the year ended March 31, 2018 is ¥829 million ($7,804 thousand).
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12   INCOME TAXES
The Company and its consolidated domestic subsidiaries are subject to corporate tax of 23.5%, inhabitant tax of 3.7%, and 
deductible enterprise tax of 3.6%, which in the aggregate resulted in a statutory income tax rate of approximately 30.9% for the 
years ended March 31, 2017 and 2018.

Reconciliations between the statutory income tax rate and the income tax rate reflected in the consolidated statements of income 
are as follows:

2017 2018

Statutory tax rate 30.9% —%
Reconciliation

Non-deductible expenses for tax purposes 0.8 —
Per capita inhabitant taxes 1.1 —
Amortization of goodwill 1.6 —
Adjustment of deferred tax assets for enacted changes in tax laws and rates 0.4 —
Valuation allowance (7.3) —
Other 0.2 —

Effective income tax rate 27.7% —%

 The difference between the statutory tax rate and the effective tax rate for the years ended March 31, 2018 was insignificant and 
not presented.

Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities at March 31, 2017 and 2018 are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Deferred tax assets:
 Impairment loss on fixed assets ¥   2,919 ¥  2,706 $ 25,479
 Provision for employee bonuses 873 802 7,555
 Net defined benefit liability 2,979 2,984 28,088
 Loss carryforwards 7,515 1,990 18,737
 Other 2,232 2,337 22,000
  Gross deferred tax assets 16,520 10,821 101,861
  Less: Valuation allowance (12,259) (7,745) (72,902)
  Total deferred tax assets 4,260 3,076 28,958
Deferred tax liabilities: 
 Unrealized gains on other securities (188) (195) (1,841)

Excess of fair value over the book value of assets and liabilities of  
  a consolidated subsidiary at the acquisition date (2,297) (2,127) (20,024)

 Other (226) (189) (1,782)
  Gross deferred tax liabilities (2,712) (2,512) (23,648)
  Net deferred tax assets ¥   1,548 ¥     564 $   5,309

 The valuation allowance relates to temporary differences and operating loss carryforwards for tax purposes that are not expected 
to be realized.
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13   CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Company and its consolidated subsidiaries are contingently liable for guarantees as at March 31, 2017 and 2018 as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Guarantee to customers ¥11,673 ¥15,792 $148,650

14   NET ASSETS
Under Japanese laws and regulations, the entire amount paid for new shares is basically required to be designated as capital stock. 
However, a company may, by resolution of the Board of Directors, designate an amount not exceeding one-half of the new share’s 
price as additional paid-in capital, which is included in capital surplus. 

Under the Japanese Corporate Law (the “Law”), in cases where a dividend distribution of surplus is made, the smaller of an 
amount equal to 10% of the dividend or the excess, if any, of 25% of capital stock over the total of additional paid-in-capital and legal 
earnings reserve must be set aside as additional paid-in-capital or legal earnings reserve. The legal earnings reserve is included in 
retained earnings in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Under the Law, in the case of the Company, legal earnings reserve and additional paid-in capital could be used to eliminate or 
reduce a deficit by resolution of the Board of Directors. 

Additional paid-in capital and legal earnings reserve may not be distributed as dividends. However, all additional paid-in capital 
and legal earnings reserve may be transferred to other capital surplus and retained earnings, respectively, which are potentially 
available for dividends. 

The maximum amount that the Company can distribute as dividends is calculated based on the non-consolidated financial 
statements of the Company in accordance with Japanese laws and regulations.

15   CAPITAL STOCK
Effective as of October 1, 2017, every 10 existing ordinary shares have been consolidated into 1 ordinary share, and every 10 
existing preference shares have been consolidated into 1 preference share. The total number of shares authorized to be issued by 
the Company, the total number of shares outstanding, and the profit attributable to owners of parent per share for fiscal 2017 are 
calculated as if the share consolidation took place at the beginning of fiscal 2017.

The Company issued the following preferred stock:
Number of shares outstanding

(thousands)

Issuance 2017 2018

Class 1 September 2002 1,000 1,000

 The preferred stock has a conversion feature to common stock at the holder’s option, which becomes effective after a certain 
predetermined period (5 years) after issuance. The initial conversion price is determined as the average market price of the Company’s 
common stock when the conversion feature becomes effective. The preferred stock is convertible to common stock over 18 years, 
and conversion prices are reset annually if certain conditions are met. Preferred stock outstanding at the end of the conversion 
period is mandatorily converted to common stock at a predetermined conversion rate.
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16   COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Amounts reclassified to net income in the current period that were recognized in other comprehensive income in the current or 
previous periods and tax effects for each component of other comprehensive income are as follows:

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Net unrealized gains on other securities

 Changes during the year ¥  33 ¥  22 $   210

 Reclassification adjustments — — —

  Sub-total, before tax 33 22 210

  Tax or benefit (10) (6) (64)

  Sub-total, net of tax 23 15 146

Foreign currency translation adjustment

 Changes during the year (32) 59 561

Remeasurements of defined benefit plans

 Changes during the year 75 167 1,574

 Reclassification adjustments 304 18 174

  Sub-total, before tax 379 185 1,748

  Tax or benefit (37) (30) (289)

  Sub-total, net of tax 341 155 1,459

  Total other comprehensive income ¥333 ¥230 $2,166

17   CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(1)  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, bank deposits withdrawable on demand and highly liquid investments with 

original maturities of three months or less and a low risk of fluctuation in value. 

(2)  Cash and cash equivalents as at March 31, 2017 and 2018 consisted of the following: 

Millions of yen
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

2017 2018 2018

Cash and deposits ¥89,736 ¥90,135 $848,413

Time deposits with maturities of more than 3 months (6,014) (14) (132)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ¥83,722 ¥90,121 $848,280

18   BUSINESS COMBINATION
Not applicable.
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19   SEGMENT INFORMATION
(General information about reportable segments)
The reportable segments of the Group represent its components whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the Board 
of Directors in deciding how to allocate resources and assessing segment performance, utilizing separately available financial 
information.

The Group is composed of companies which operate business based on the nature of products and services. The Group develops 
comprehensive strategies and performs business activities.

The Group’s segments have been aggregated based on the nature of products and services into three reportable segments: “Real 
Estate Management”, “Real Estate Brokerage” and “Real Estate Development and Sales”.

Descriptions of the reportable segments are as stated below.

Segment Main business

Real Estate Management Management of condominiums and office buildings, contractual work for condominium 
repair and construction, and provision of services for condominium residents, etc.

Real Estate Brokerage
Real estate brokerage, sales of existing real estate, real estate rental and management, 
renovation and refurbishment, and sales of interior goods, etc.

Real Estate Development and Sales Development and allotment sales of condominiums, etc.

(Basis of measurement of reported segment profit or loss, segment assets, segment liabilities and other material items)
The accounting policies of segments are almost the same as those described in Note 3 (“SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 
POLICIES”). The measure of segment profit is operating income. Transactions and transfers between segments are made at arm’s 
length prices.

(Information about reported segment profit or loss, segment assets, segments liabilities and other material items)
Information as of and for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2017 and 2018 is as follows:

Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31, 2017
Real Estate

Management
Real Estate
Brokerage

Real Estate
Development

and Sales

Eliminations
or Corporate

Assets/Expenses
Consolidated

Total

Net Sales

(1) Sales to outside customers ¥159,649 ¥61,315 ¥104,395 ¥        — ¥325,360

(2) Inter-segment sales/transfers 3,690 933 289 (4,913) —

  Total net sales ¥163,339 ¥62,249 ¥104,684 ¥  (4,913) ¥325,360

Segment profit ¥  10,684 ¥  3,449 ¥    8,987 ¥  (2,598) ¥  20,523

Assets ¥  64,671 ¥40,235 ¥187,736 ¥(14,743) ¥277,899

Depreciation 869 258 653 (14) 1,767

Amortization of goodwill 965 52 45 — 1,064

Interest expense — 114 286 (129) 271

Total expenditures for additions to tangible 
fixed assets and intangible fixed assets 167 228 264 (4) 654
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Millions of yen

For the year ended March 31, 2018
Real Estate

Management
Real Estate
Brokerage

Real Estate
Development

and Sales

Eliminations
or Corporate

Assets/Expenses
Consolidated

Total

Net Sales

(1) Sales to outside customers ¥165,677 ¥61,908 ¥107,599 ¥        — ¥335,184

(2) Inter-segment sales/transfers 5,267 1,682 608 (7,557) —

  Total net sales ¥170,944 ¥63,590 ¥108,207 ¥  (7,557) ¥335,184

Segment profit ¥  11,016 ¥  3,621 ¥    8,890 ¥  (3,353) ¥  20,174

Assets ¥  67,238 ¥47,864 ¥187,761 ¥(26,203) ¥276,661

Depreciation 806 196 630 (12) 1,620

Amortization of goodwill 978 52 45 — 1,077

Interest expense 3 146 222 (169) 203

Total expenditures for additions to tangible 
fixed assets and intangible fixed assets 617 129 364 (120) 991

Thousands of U.S. dollars

For the year ended March 31, 2018
Real Estate

Management
Real Estate
Brokerage

Real Estate
Development

and Sales

Eliminations
or Corporate

Assets/Expenses
Consolidated

Total

Net Sales

(1) Sales to outside customers $1,559,460 $582,719 $1,012,792 $          — $3,154,971

(2) Inter-segment sales/transfers 49,576 15,834 5,725 (71,137) —

  Total net sales $1,609,037 $598,553 $1,018,518 $  (71,137) $3,154,971

Segment profit $   103,692 $  34,084 $     83,683 $  (31,565) $   189,895

Assets $   632,889 $450,533 $1,767,334 $(246,640) $2,604,118

Depreciation 7,594 1,850 5,933 (122) 15,256

Amortization of goodwill 9,211 498 432 — 10,142

Interest expense 31 1,382 2,091 (1,592) 1,912

Total expenditures for additions to tangible 
fixed assets and intangible fixed assets 5,811 1,222 3,430 (1,136) 9,328

20   RELATED PARTY INFORMATION
No material related party transaction to be disclosed for the years ended March 31, 2017 and 2018.

21   SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Not applicable.
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As of March 31, 2018

Total Number of Shares Issued                              Number of Shareholders

Common stock 84,354,273 shares 17,846

Preferred stock 1,000,000 shares

Distribution of Shares by Type of Shareholder (Common stock)

Class 1

Amount of issue ¥4.0 billion

Number of shares issued 1 million shares

Issued price ¥4,000

Shareholder ORIX Corporation

Preferred dividends

Cap price ¥400

Amount of preferred 
dividends

¥4,000 x (JY TIBOR + 1.75%)

Participating/cumulative
Non-participating/ 

non-cumulative

Right to receive residual 
assets upon liquidation

¥4,000

Voting rights No voting rights

Revival clause
When preferred dividends are 

not possible

Stock splits, reverse stock 
splits

Available

Conversion at holder’s option

Initial conversion price ¥4,440

Revision of conversion 
price

Downward revision

At market price every year on 
Oct. 1 from 2008 onwards

Adjustment of conversion 
price

Conversion price is adjusted 
in specific situations

Floor price ¥3,516

Conversion period 18 years from Oct. 1, 2007

Conversion at company’s initiative

Maturity date of 
conversion at company’s 
initiative

Oct. 1, 2025

Conversion price
Average of closing prices for 
30 consecutive trading days

Floor price ¥3,552

Overview of Preferred Stock (as of March 31, 2018)

Note: The Japanese Bankers Association publishes TIBOR (the 
Tokyo interbank offered rate) at the Japanese yen reference 
rate (for one year) as of April 1. With Class 1 preferred stock, 
the Japanese yen TIBOR or equivalent percentage is calcu-
lated to the fourth decimal and rounded down to the third 
decimal. The 30 transaction day average for the acquisition 
price is an average for the final value for 30 trading days 
commencing on the 45th trading day before the date on 
which acquisition terms are fulfilled.

* In addition to the above, the Company also holds 3,292,000 shares of treasury stock.

Major Shareholders

Stock Information

ORIX Corporation 53,749

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account) 1,293

State Street Bank and Trust Company 505001  1,114

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account 9)  1,020

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account) 1,007

Daikyo Group Employees Shareholding Association 758

Japan Trustee Services Bank, Ltd. (Trust Account 5) 600

Aioi Nissay Dowa Insurance Co., Ltd. 557

The Bank of New York Mellon 140040 555

The Bank of New York, Treaty Jasdec Account 547

ORIX Corporation 1,000

Common stock

Name Number of shares (1,000 shares)

Preferred stock

Name Number of shares (1,000 shares)

Common stock
84,354,273

Japanese 
�nancial institutions

7.5%

Foreign 
institutions and individuals

14.5%

Japanese 
individuals and others

12.7%

Japanese 
securities companies

0.4%

Other Japanese 
corporations

64.9%
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Real estate development, real estate sales and urban 
development
Daikyo Incorporated
Anabuki Construction Inc.
Anabuki Life Support Inc.
Daikyo Australia Pty Ltd.

Condominium management, resident services and janitorial 
services
Daikyo Astage Incorporated
Anabuki Community Inc.

Property management, construction management and 
building utilities
ORIX Facilities Corporation
Ryukyu Facilities Corporation

Condominium repair and maintenance, general engineering 
works and building construction, and building diagnostics 
and seismic reinforcement work
Daikyo Anabuki Construction Inc.
Shuken Incorporated

Real estate brokerage and leasing management, 
renovations and interior remodeling
Daikyo Anabuki Real Estate Incorporated
Daikyo Reform . Design Incorporated
Taiwan Daikyo Incorporated
Daikyo Hongkong Limited

Corporate Profile

 Corporate Profile

 Daikyo Group’s Main Companies

Corporate name: Daikyo Incorporated
Date established: December 11, 1964
Head office: Sendagaya No. 21 Daikyo Building,  
 4-24-13, Sendagaya, Shibuya-ku,  
 Tokyo 151-8506, Japan
Capital stock: ¥41,171,000,000 (as of March 31, 2018)
Fiscal year-end: March 31
Number of consolidated subsidiaries: 
12 (as of March 31, 2018)
Number of employees: 
5,621 (as of March 31, 2018, on a consolidated basis)
Major banks: 
MUFG Bank, Ltd.
Mizuho Bank, Ltd.
Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation
The Norinchukin Bank
Major shareholder: ORIX Corporation

Major memberships: 
The Real Estate Companies Association of Japan
Japan Business Federation
Real Estate Fair Trade Council
Major permits: 
Building Lot and Building Transaction Business:
Minister of Land, Infrastructure,  
Transport and Tourism (14) No. 792
Construction Business: 
Minister of Land, Infrastructure,  
Transport and Tourism Permit (Toku 28) No. 4238
Real Estate Specified Joint Enterprise: 
Financial Services Agency Commissioner and Minister of Land, 
Infrastructure, Transport and Tourism No. 18
First-class architect’s office/head office:
Governor of Tokyo registration No. 18268
Stock exchange listing: 
First Section, Tokyo Stock Exchange

Daikyo’s integrated report is aimed at facilitating a deeper 
dialogue with its shareholders, investors and other stakeholders 
by giving detailed explanations of its Medium-term Management 
Plan and other initiatives for raising medium- to long-term 
corporate value.

Reference guidelines
•	Global	Reporting	Initiative	(GRI)	Guidelines
•	International	Integrated	Reporting	Framework
•	ISO	26000
•	Guidance	for	Collaborative	Value	Creation
•	Sustainable	Development	Goals	(SDGs)

Period covered by the report
This report focuses on activities carried out in fiscal 2017 (April 1, 
2017 to March 31, 2018), but also includes some information 
outside this period.

Editorial policy
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